UNIVERSITÉ DU QUÉBEC À MONTRÉAL

THE GUT MICROBIOTA'S TEMPORAL DYNAMICS AND RELATIONSHIPS WITH INDIVIDUAL TRAITS IN A WILD EASTERN CHIPMUNK POPULATION

MASTER'S THESIS

PRESENTED

AS PARTIAL REQUIREMENT

OF THE MASTER'S DEGREE IN BIOLOGY

 $\mathbf{B}\mathbf{Y}$

LAURIE AUCLAIR

JANUARY 2025

UNIVERSITÉ DU QUÉBEC À MONTRÉAL

RELATIONS ENTRE LA DYNAMIQUE TEMPORELLE DU MICROBIOTE INTESTINAL ET LES TRAITS INDIVIDUELS DANS UNE POPULATION NATURELLE DE TAMIAS RAYÉS

MÉMOIRE

PRÉSENTÉ

COMME EXIGENCE PARTIELLE

DE LA MAÎTRISE EN BIOLOGIE

PAR

LAURIE AUCLAIR

JANVIER 2025

UNIVERSITÉ DU QUÉBEC À MONTRÉAL Service des bibliothèques

<u>Avertissement</u>

La diffusion de ce mémoire se fait dans le respect des droits de son auteur, qui a signé le formulaire *Autorisation de reproduire et de diffuser un travail de recherche de cycles supérieurs* (SDU-522 – Rév.12-2023). Cette autorisation stipule que «conformément à l'article 11 du Règlement no 8 des études de cycles supérieurs, [l'auteur] concède à l'Université du Québec à Montréal une licence non exclusive d'utilisation et de publication de la totalité ou d'une partie importante de [son] travail de recherche pour des fins pédagogiques et non commerciales. Plus précisément, [l'auteur] autorise l'Université du Québec à Montréal à reproduire, diffuser, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de [son] travail de recherche à des fins non commerciales sur quelque support que ce soit, y compris l'Internet. Cette licence et cette autorisation n'entraînent pas une renonciation de [la] part [de l'auteur] à [ses] droits moraux ni à [ses] droits de propriété intellectuelle. Sauf entente contraire, [l'auteur] conserve la liberté de diffuser et de commercialiser ou non ce travail dont [il] possède un exemplaire.»

AKNOWLEDGEMENTS

L'écriture de ce mémoire et la complétion de ma maîtrise n'aurait pas pu être possible sans le support de nombreuses personnes.

Je tiens d'abord à remercier mon directeur de recherche, Denis Réale, de m'avoir donné l'opportunité de m'épanouir et me dépasser à travers ce projet. Denis, merci infiniment pour ton temps, ta bienveillance, ton expertise, ta confiance et tes blagues. J'aimerais également remercier mon co-directeur de recherche Albrecht Schulte-Hostedde, ainsi que mes collaborateurs, Dany Garant, Patrick Bergeron et Steven Kembel, pour vos conseils et votre contribution à mon projet.

Ce mémoire a également été possible grâce aux membres de l'équipe Tamia, incluant les tamias eux-mêmes. Merci pour ces souvenirs inoubliables. Merci aussi aux membres du labo Réale, notamment Arlette Fauteux, Élène Haave-Audet, Hélène Dion-Phénix, Marianne Roxbourgh et Gabrielle Gingras, ainsi qu'aux exmembres du laboratoire, pour votre soutien moral et vos nombreux commentaires qui ont pu sans aucun doute améliorer mon projet et m'ont aidé à devenir une meilleure scientifique.

Merci à Laurence qui a été à mes côtés dans les moments les plus difficiles. Je suis chanceuse de t'avoir dans ma vie.

Un merci particulier à Maxime, avec qui j'ai pu entretenir mon amour pour l'écologie, et qui a toujours cru en moi.

Enfin, je tiens à remercier ma famille, notamment ma sœur Sarha-Jude, mes papas, Didine et mes grandsparents, qui m'ont soutenu tout au long de mes études et qui m'ont écouté radoter sur mes suisses. Un merci particulier à ma maman qui a su m'écouter, m'épauler, me rassurer et me conseiller aux bons moments.

J'ai pu effectuer cette maîtrise grâce au soutien financier du Fonds de recherche du Québec — Nature et technologies (P. Bergeron, D. Réale, D. Garant) et du Conseil de recherches en sciences naturelles et en génie du Canada CRSNG (D. Réale). J'ai également obtenu la Bourse Lucie-St-Martin pendant mon parcours à la maîtrise.

DEDICATION

À Pascal

TABLE OF CONTENTS

AKNOW	LEDGEMENTSi	ii
DEDICA	ГІОЛі	V
FIGURES	S LIST	/i
TABLES	LIST	ii
RÉSUMÉ	vi	ii
SUMMA	RYi	X
CHAPTE	R 1 GENERAL INTRODUCTION	1
1.1	Host-microbiome evolution	1
1.2	The gut microbiota – what's so special about it?	1
1.3	Factors influencing the gut microbiota	2
1.4	Gut microbiota and behaviour	5
1.5	Temporal dynamics of the gut microbiota	9
1.6	Studying gut microbiota in wild populations1	0
1.7	Objectives	1
1.8	Study system	2
CHAPTE	R 2 GUT MICROBIOTA'S TEMPORAL DYNAMICS AND RELATIONSHIPS WITH	
INDIVID	UAL TRAITS IN A WILD EASTERN CHIPMUNK POPULATION 1	4
2.1	Abstract	4
2.2	Introduction 1	5
2.3	Methods 1	8
2.4	Results	3
2.5	Composition analysis	6
2.6	Discussion	0
2.7	Supplementary materials	5
CHAPTE	R 3 CONCLUSION	1
3.1	Ecological implications and contributions 4	1
3.2	Limitations	3
3.3	Perspectives	4
REFERE	NCES 4	5

FIGURES LIST

Figure 1.1 Main pathways linking the gut microbiota and the central nervous system. Adapted from Sampson & Mazmanian (2015)
Figure 1.2 Causes and consequences of individual variation in the diversity and composition of the gut microbiota in relation to extrinsic (environmental effects) and intrinsic factors, and the subsequent impact on host physiology and behavioural traits. Adapted from Davidson et al. (2018)
Figure 1.3 Geographic location of the three sampling sites, site 1 (MVI: $45^{\circ}06.785'/72^{\circ}26.078'$), site 2 (MV4: $45^{\circ}06.207'/72^{\circ}26.207'$) and site 3 (MV5: $45^{\circ}07.852'/72^{\circ}23.735'$) in the Mounts Sutton, Quebec, Canada
Figure 2.1 Predicted slopes for individual ASV richness and Shannon Index ($n = 61$) of the gut microbiota of eastern chipmunks from our study population in southern Québec, Canada, from May to July 2022. The predictions were adjusted for site 1, females, and at the mean of all host behavioural measures25
Figure 2.2 Proportion of variation in gut bacterial communities explained by site, Julian day, sex and age, and behaviour (including exploration speed, centrality, trappability and trap diversity) from May to July 2022 in eastern chipmunks from our study population in southern Québec, Canada
Figure 2.3 Redundancy analysis of gut microbiota samples of eastern chipmunks from our study population in southern Québec, Canada, through the active season (2022). Sites (A), individual ellipses (B), inherent characteristics and behaviours (C, D) are presented. The axes RDA1 and RDA2 are shown in C while D illustrates RDA1 and RDA3
Figure S2.1 Mean Shannon diversity index for every sample according to sex. The male outlier individual's samples are highlighted in red
Figure S2.2 Abundance of <i>Bacteroidetes</i> and <i>Firmicutes</i> according to year. Mean Bacteroidetes abundance is higher in 2021 ($p < 0.001$) and mean Firmicutes abundance is higher in 2022 ($p < 0.001$)37
Figure S2.3 Proportion of variation in gut bacterial communities explained centrality, exploration speed, trappability and trap diversity) in a natural population of <i>T. striatus</i> of Mounts Sutton, Quebec, Canada, in 2022
Figure S2.4 Inter-year individuality of the gut microbiota composition of eastern chipmunks ($n = 28$) of Mounts Sutton, Quebec, Canada. Two seemingly stable individuals, Q031 (blue) and N052 (red), and two other individuals that appeared to be variable in their composition between years, R085 (orange) and Q090 (green), were highlighted to do a comparative investigation between the composition, ASV richness, Shannon index and phylum relative abundance through time
Figure S2.5 Inter-year variation (2021-2022) of the gut microbiota ASV richness and Shannon diversity index of eastern chipmunks (n = 28) of Mounts Sutton, Quebec, Canada. Four individuals were selected to do a comparative investigation between the composition, ASV richness, Shannon index and phylum relative abundance through time: Q031 (blue), N052 (red), R085 (orange) and Q090 (green)
Figure S2.6 Inter-year variation (2021-2022) in bacterial phylum relative abundance of the gut microbiota of eastern chipmunks of Mounts Sutton, Quebec, Canada. Four individuals were selected to do a comparative investigation between the composition, ASV richness, Shannon index and phylum relative abundance through time: Q031, N052, R085 and Q090

TABLES LIST

Table 2.1 Effects of sex, age, site, Julian day and behaviour traits on the gut microbiota ASV richness and Shannon diversity index of our study chipmunk population in southern Québec, Canada, over an active season (2022). We used a mixed-effect model with random slopes. The marginal and the conditional R2, for the richness model, were 0.32 and 0.96, respectively. For the Shannon model, the marginal and the conditional R2, were 0.17 and 0.58, respectively. "Corr." corresponds to the correlation between the
intercepts and the slopes
Table S2.1: Effects of sex, site, Julian day and behaviour traits on the gut microbiota ASV richness of theadults of a chipmunk population of Mounts Sutton in Québec, Canada, over an active season (2022)35
Table S2.2 α-diversity analysis – likelihood ratio tests
Table S2.3 Effects of sex, age, site, Julian day and behaviour traits on the gut microbiota composition of achipmunk population of Mounts Sutton in Québec, Canada, from May to July 2022

RÉSUMÉ

Le microbiote intestinal varie selon les espèces hôtes, les individus et au cours du temps. Selon des études récentes, les communautés de microorganismes intestinaux peuvent avoir un impact important sur diverses fonctions de l'hôte, telles que le développement, l'immunité, la physiologie et le comportement. Dans la nature, les variations du microbiote intestinal entre les individus conduisent à des différences d'aptitude. De plus, des études récentes sur des souris et des rats de laboratoire ont révélé des relations entre les comportements liés à l'anxiété et la diversité et la composition du microbiote intestinal. Cependant, les études dans des contextes naturels sont rares, de sorte que les facteurs influençant la variation du microbiote dans les populations naturelles demeurent flous. L'objectif général de ce mémoire est d'étudier la variation individuelle du microbiote intestinal dans des conditions naturelles. Plus précisément, j'examine les dynamiques temporelles des microbes intestinaux et j'explore les liens entre le microbiote et les caractéristiques de l'hôte, avec un accent particulier sur le comportement. Nous avons suivi une population naturelle de tamias rayés (Tamias striatus) dans le sud du Québec en 2021 et 2022, et recueilli des échantillons fécaux pour estimer la composition bactérienne. Nous avons utilisé une approche de modèle mixte, des analyses de répétabilité et une partition de la variance des communautés microbiennes pour examiner les dynamiques du microbiote intestinal en utilisant plusieurs mesures de diversité. Nous avons montré que l'âge des tamias était un prédicteur significatif de la diversité- α du microbiote, et que la composition bactérienne intestinale variait en fonction du comportement et du site de capture. De plus, nous avons constaté que la diversité du microbiote était stable et hautement individualisée au sein d'une saison d'activité, mais que ces différences entre individus ne persistaient pas d'une année à l'autre. Nos résultats soutiennent la relation entre le microbiote intestinal et le comportement de l'hôte chez les mammifères et renforcent l'évidence croissante que l'individualité de la diversité et de la composition bactérienne dépend du temps.

Mots-clés : microbiome intestinal, écologie comportementale, variation individuelle, stabilité, répétabilité

SUMMARY

The gut microbiota varies across host species, individuals and time. Recent studies on animal microbiota have shown that gut microorganism communities can strongly impact diverse host functions, such as development, immunity, physiology and behaviour. Gut microbiota variations among individuals are hypothesized to lead to differences in fitness and ultimately, survival. Furthermore, recent studies on laboratory mice and rats have shown relationships between anxiety-related behaviours and gut microbiota composition and diversity. However, evidence in natural contexts is still scarce, such that factors driving microbiota variation in wild populations remain unclear. The general objective of this master's thesis is to investigate individual variation of the gut microbiota in nature. Specifically, I examine the temporal dynamics of gut microbes and explore the links between microbiota and host characteristics, with a particular focus on behaviour. We monitored a population of wild eastern chipmunks (Tamias striatus) in 2021 and 2022. in southern Québec, and collected faecal samples estimate bacterial composition. We used a mixed-model approach, repeatability analyses and variance partitioning of microbial communities to examine the dynamics of the gut microbiota using multiple diversity measures. We showed that age was a significant predictor of microbiota α -diversity, and that gut bacterial composition varied with behaviour and capture site. Additionally, we found that microbiota diversity was stable and highly individualized within a trapping season, but that among-individual differences mostly did not persist from one year to the next. Our findings support the relationship between gut microbiota and host behaviour in wild mammals and add to the growing evidence that individuality of bacterial diversity and composition is time dependant.

Key words: gut microbiome, behavioural ecology, individual variation, stability, repeatability

CHAPTER 1 GENERAL INTRODUCTION

1.1 Host-microbiome evolution

The associations between microbes and vertebrate hosts have a deep evolutionary history, shaped by millions of years of co-evolution, resulting in highly specialized and interdependent relationships (Ley et al., 2008; McFall-Ngai et al., 2013). Dynamic assemblages of bacteria, viruses, archaea, fungi, and other microbial eukaryotes, collectively known as the microbiota, inhabit various niches within and on the bodies of their hosts (Berg et al., 2020; Macke et al., 2017). Among these, bacteria have been the most extensively studied due to their abundance, diversity, and established relevance to human health (Sonnenburg et al., 2004). I will refer to the bacterial microbiota in my thesis.

Recent technological advances and the development of sequencing tools for studying microbial communities have opened new and unexplored research frontiers for ecologists. This burgeoning field has attracted significant attention, with research focusing on the evolutionary processes linking animals and microbes (Amato, 2013; Coyte et al., 2015; Suzuki, 2017; Kohl, 2019). The intimate relationship between hosts and their microbiota has led some authors to argue that crucial information about animal biology is missed if microbial communities are ignored (Zilber-Rosenberg & Rosenberg, 2008; Gilbert et al., 2012; Miller et al., 2018). For instance, Rosenberg et al. (2007) introduced the concept of the hologenome, proposing that hosts and their associated microorganisms should be studied as a single biological entity. Similarly, Miller et al. (2018) recommended applying metacommunity theory to address scale-related issues in microbiome science and better understand microbiome variation. These frameworks suggest that understanding the consequences of host-microbiome interactions could provide new insights into the proximate mechanisms driving ecological processes given the significant effects that microbes have at multiple ecological levels.

1.2 What is so special about the gut microbiota?

In vertebrates, the densest and most diverse microbial communities are in the gastrointestinal tract. (Hooper & Gordon, 2001; Donaldson et al., 2016; Williams & al., 2020; Cusick et al., 2021). Whether permanently established or just passing through, gut microbes compete for nutrients and space, producing metabolites that directly alter the physiochemical properties of their environment (Zhang et al., 2016). Hence, the gut microbiota has a critical impact on diverse hosts functions, affecting health.

One of the most well-known effects of mammalian gut microbes is their prominent role in host nutrition. These microbes enable access to nutrients that would otherwise be limited or unavailable. For instance, gut bacteria break down and convert plant fibers into short-chain fatty acids. These fatty acids are then assimilated by the host, regulating numerous metabolic pathways and serving as a significant source of energy (Flint & Bayer, 2008; LeBlanc et al., 2017; Amato, 2016). Bacterial symbionts also induce changes in gut motility and permeability (Muller et al., 2014; reviewed in Osadchiy et al., 2019), regulate energy extraction and storage (Bäckhed et al., 2004) and facilitate nutrient absorption (Neish, 2009).

Additionally, the gut microbiota plays an important role in the regulation of immune functions. The intestinal epithelium acts as a protective barrier while still maintaining homeostatic tolerance for mutualist or commensal microorganisms (McFall-Ngai et al., 2013; Margolis et al., 2021). A healthy and diverse gut microbiome helps the host resist pathogenic colonization via competitive exclusion (Costello et al., 2012; Pickard et al., 2017). Gastrointestinal symbionts also help attenuate inflammation (Kelly et al., 2004) and the development and differentiation of CD4+ T cells, which are crucial for determining host health status (Wu & Wu, 2012).

Although the gut microbiota is particularly known for its impacts on host nutrition and immunity, it also affects many other physiological systems though neuroendocrine signaling. Bacterial metabolism byproducts can modulate host neurotransmitter and hormone levels and their precursors (Johnson, 2020). For example, gut-derived metabolites act on enterochromaffin cells in the digestive tract lumen and modify the bioavailability of serotonin, thereby regulating many host functions such as intestinal motility and secretory reflexes (Ridaura & Belkaid, 2015; Yano et al., 2015; Williams et al., 2020). Clearly, the diverse functions fulfilled by gut microbes confer extended metabolic abilities for their host across multiple pathways. Consequently, from an ecological point of view, the gut microbiota plays an essential role in host survival and fitness (Suzuki, 2017; Moran et al., 2019; Cusick et al., 2021).

1.3 Factors influencing the gut microbiota

The mammalian gut microbiota is first acquired during the passage through the birth canal, through maternal milk and via close physical contact with parents (Zilber-Rosenberg & Rosenberg, 2008; Mallott & Amato, 2021). However, many factors influence the ensuing microbial dynamics. These factors are often separated into host intrinsic or biological host factors, and extrinsic or environmental factors, which depend on external sources of contamination. Considering the wide-ranging effects of gut microbiota on hosts, many researchers aim to identify the source of gut microbiota variation in vertebrates.

1.3.1 Intrinsic factors

The gut microbiota varies according to several internal host factors that cannot be voluntarily modified. Host genetics account for a significant proportion of the variability seen in microbiota composition among individuals (Turnbaugh et al., 2009; Benson et al., 2010; Goodrich et al., 2014). Genetic factors influence many aspects of the gut environment, such as mucus composition, production of antimicrobial peptides, and general gut barrier integrity, which ultimately determines if it possesses the necessary substrates and resources for microorganisms to subsist. For example, the *Turicibacter* genus is under genetic control in humans (Goodrich et al., 2016) and mice (Benson et al., 2010; Org et al., 2016), with its abundance depending on the expression of a gene associated with bile acid composition (Kemis et al., 2019).

Age significantly impacts gut microbiota diversity and composition across various animal taxa (Yatsunenko et al., 2012; Xu & Zhang, 2021; Sadoughi et al., 2022). These changes likely arise from physiological variations, dietary shifts, and behavioural changes. Mammals are typically born with few gut bacteria, gradually accumulating species through stages of bacterial succession, with initial colonists originating from maternal vaginal microbes and breast milk (Palmer et al., 2007; Koenig et al., 2011; Bäckhed et al., 2015). For instance, juveniles host distinct and less diverse microbial communities compared to adults in wild baboons (*Papio cynocephalus*; Ren et al., 2016), in Brandt's voles (*Lasiopodomys brandtii*; Xu & Zhang, 2021) and in humans (Yatsunenko et al., 2012). Conversely, in red squirrels (*Tamiasciurus hudsonicus*; Petrullo et al., 2022), gut bacterial diversity does not change from youth to adulthood, while it decreases with age in chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes schweinfurthii*; Degnan et al., 2012). In summary, the effects of aging on the gut microbiome appear to be species-specific and even study-specific in several host taxa.

Research has shown that gut microbiota can vary according to the host's sex, although findings are sometimes inconsistent. Physiological and behavioural differences are thought to drive variations in gut microbiota diversity and composition between females and males (Kim et al., 2020; Valeri & Endres, 2021). For example, sex-specific patterns have been shown to emerge due to hormone-microbe interactions, such as higher estrogen levels in females stimulating IgA secretion, which subsequently affects gut microbiota (Markle et al., 2013; Org et al., 2016; Sylvia & Demas, 2018; Pace & Watnick, 2021). In addition, several aspects of a species' ecology can lead to differential microbial inoculation between sexes in the wild (Bolnick et al., 2014; Corl et al., 2020). Life history processes, parental energy investment, social behaviour, diet and pathogen susceptibility are all ecological factors that can significantly influence gut microbial dynamics and often vary between males and females (Amato, 2013).

1.3.2 Extrinsic factors

Despite the clear influence of host genetics, age and sex in shaping gut microbial communities, several extrinsic factors also play a significant role in determining which microorganisms are encountered throughout the host's lifetime. A separate body of research has emphasized that the external environment's contribution to shaping gut microbiota often outweighs the influence of endogenous host factors in wild populations (Amato, 2013; Ren et al., 2017; Schmidt et al., 2019). Among these external factors, diet and surrounding environment are likely the most important drivers of vertebrate gut microbiota (Ley et al., 2006; Wu et al., 2011; Hird et al., 2015; Zhou et al., 2016; McKenzie et al., 2017; Leeming et al., 2019; Liddicoat et al., 2020; Teyssier et al., 2020).

Diet is a principal determinant of gut microbiota, as it provides a direct route to the gastrointestinal tract and creates selective pressures that shape microbial community structure (Amato, 2013; Ecklu-Mensah et al., 2022). Ingested food supplies essential nutrients that gut microbes utilize and metabolize, thereby influencing community dynamics (Leeming et al., 2019). For instance, in humans, gut microbiomes can rapidly adjust to dietary changes, with noticeable shifts in microbial composition and micronutrient intake occurring when individuals switch between animal-based and plant-based diets (David et al., 2014).

Direct exposure to microbes through soil, air, and other environmental elements also plays a critical role in shaping gut microbiota (Zhou et al., 2016; Mallott & Amato, 2021; Raulo et al., 2024). The structure and composition of the host's habitat determine the probability of colonization by filtering the microorganisms encountered in the environment, providing opportunities for microorganisms to establish and persist in the host (Ley et al., 2008; Amato, 2013; Moran & Sloan, 2015; Schmidt et al., 2019). For example, habitat type and large-scale landscape characteristics correlate with gut microbiota composition in howler monkeys (*Alouatta pigra* and *Alouatta palliata*; Amato et al., 2016) and in deer mice (*Peromyscus maniculatus*, Jameson et al., 2020), respectively. At finer spatial scales, interactions with different environmental substrates can generate distinct gut microbial communities, as observed in *Drosophila* species (Chandler et al., 2011), laboratory mice (Ottoman et al., 2019; Zhou et al., 2016), and in wild wood mice (*Apodemus sylvaticus*; Raulo et al., 2024).

While diet and habitat selection are partially under host control, other external factors, such as seasonal shifts in temperature, humidity, and pathogen prevalence, also modify the environmental pool of microbes, and consequently, the host's gut microbiota (Baniel et al., 2021; Kartzinel et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2023). These conditions can alter habitat structure and the availability, abundance, and diversity of resources, thus changing the microbial landscape that hosts are exposed to (Bletz et al., 2016; Shapira, 2016)

1.4 Gut microbiota and behaviour

The relationship between gut microbiota and host physiological homeostasis has attracted considerable attention in recent years. The substantial role of gut microbiota in maintaining brain function has been demonstrated in numerous studies over the past two decades (reviewed in Mayer et al., 2015). Gastrointestinal microbes can induce neurochemical changes in the brain by affecting the central nervous system, thereby altering host cognition and behaviour. These changes can have important ecological implications in wild animal populations (Archie & Tung, 2015; Suzuki, 2017; Davidson et al., 2018).

1.4.1 Bidirectional communication between the gut microbiota and the brain

Multiple signalling mechanisms underly the bidirectional communication between the gut microbiota and the brain. The gut-brain axis links the gastrointestinal tract to the central nervous system through neural, immune, and endocrine pathways (Figure 1.1; Mayer et al., 2015; Carabotti et al., 2015). Key elements of the gut-brain axis include the vagus nerve, which provides a direct neural link between the gut and the brain; the enteric nervous system, which processes and transmits information about gut conditions to the brain and regulates gastrointestinal activity; and the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, a neuroendocrine system involved in stress response (Margolis et al., 2021; Kasarello et al., 2023).



Figure 1.1 Main pathways linking the gut microbiota and the central nervous system. Adapted from Sampson & Mazmanian (2015).

Imbalances of the gut's bacterial composition alters several physiological systems, thereby affecting brain function and behaviour (Cryan & Dinan, 2012; Foster & Neufeld, 2013). Research indicates that the gut microbiota has an impact on HPA axis activity, affecting stress responses and inducing anxiety-like behaviours (Sudo et al., 2014; Martin et al., 2018; Williams et al., 2020; Cusick et al., 2021). When a stressor is detected, multiple signals travel through the different constituents of the HPA axis. First, the hypothalamus releases corticotropin-releasing hormone, which stimulates the pituitary gland to secrete adrenocorticotropic hormone (Carabotti et al., 2015). This hormone then prompts the adrenal glands to produce cortisol (in humans, fish, and most mammals) or corticosterone (in rodents, birds, amphibians, and reptiles), which are the primary stress hormones (Sudo, 2014; Carabotti et al., 2015; Williams et al., 2020).

Different methods have been used to assess the link between anxiety-related behaviours and the gut microbiota, either with the use of germ-free animals (Heijtz et al., 2011; Neufeld et al., 2011), antibiotic treatments (Jameson et al., 2020; Bercik et al., 2011), or faecal transplantation (Collins et al., 2013). Germ-free animals lack any bacterial contamination and offer the possibility to directly investigate the effects of inoculation on behaviour (Cryan & O'Mahony, 2011; Cryan & Dinan, 2012). Neufeld and colleagues (2011) have found that mice devoid of a microbiota show decreased anxiety-like behaviours compared with specific pathogen-free mice. Many other experiments using germ-free animals show similar results (Heijtz et al., 2011; Clarke et al., 2012). Additionally, Bercik et al. (2011) and Jameson et al. (2020) found that antibiotic treatment increases exploration in BALB/c mice and wild deer mice (*Peromyscus maniculatus*), respectively. Anxiety level is frequently assessed using measurements related to exploratory behaviour (Foster & Neufeld, 2013; Sampson et al., 2015; Davidson et al., 2018). A propensity to explore rapidly a novel environment and to stay in the center of an open space is generally a sign of low anxiety state (Belzung, 1999; Gould et al., 2009; Foster & Neufeld, 2013; Kraeuter et al., 2019). All these results seem to indicate that gut microbiota play an important role in determining the expression of anxiety-related behaviours, and in turn, behaviour can modulate which microbes are encountered in the environment.

1.4.2 Host behaviour shapes gut microbiota

Studies on nonhuman animals have shown relationships between gut microbial communities and various behaviours, such as aggressiveness (Sylvia et al., 2017), social behaviour (Archie & Tung, 2015), exploratory behaviour and anxiety (Bercik et al., 2011; Bravo et al., 2011; Heijtz et al., 2011; Foster & Neufeld, 2013). Since a significant portion of the gut microbiota is derived from the environment and food resources (Moran & Sloan, 2015), behaviours associated with foraging, such as exploration speed, could affect which microbes can be encountered and picked-up from the environment. In wild populations,

exploration and anxiety-related behaviours are involved in individual differences in foraging strategies (Spiegel et al., 2017), diet (Herath et al., 2021; Gharnit et al., 2022), pathogen transmission (Boyer et al., 2010; Webber & Willis, 2020) and habitat use (Boon et al., 2008; Pearish et al., 2013), all of which can modulate microbial exposures.

In nature, food resources are often scattered and heterogeneously distributed, and animals differ in the way they acquire them (Bolnick et al., 2003; Dall et al., 2012). Various behavioural traits influence space use patterns and foraging activity (Toscano et al., 2016; Spiegel et al., 2017; Erixon et al., 2024, in review). For instance, Patrick et al. (2017) found that bolder wandering albatross (*Diomedea exulans*) tend to be on the exploration end of the exploration-exploitation trade-off, performing less area-restricted search and covering greater distance between food patches. Similarly, bolder golden-mantled ground squirrels (*Callospermophilus lateralis*; Aliperti et al., 2021) and bank voles (*Myodes glareolus*; Schirmer et al., 2019) maintain larger core areas than their shyer counterparts. Moreover, hormones, such as cortisol and corticosterone, can also regulate locomotor and foraging activity in response to changing environmental conditions (Wingfield, 2003; Hau & Goymann, 2015; Spiegel et al., 2017).

Theory also suggests that individuals who remain thorough in their exploration would be slower to acquire resources (Toscano et al., 2016) and have smaller home ranges (Spiegel et al., 2017). Likewise, it is expected that different foraging tactics emerging from contrasting behavioural phenotypes can affect types of prey consumed (Toscano et al., 2016), since individuals favouring exploration over exploitation have a higher chance of encountering a larger breadth of prey. Gharnit et al. (2022) found that diet varies with foraging tactics in a population of eastern chipmunks (*Tamias striatus*). Individuals at both ends of the exploration spectrum tend to specialize in their prey choices, while moderate explorers had a more generalist diet. In edible dormice (*Glis glis*), the probability of finding unpredictable food sources increased with exploration (Wirowska et al., 2024). Therefor, behaviour can affect the likelihood of encountering novel microbes through direct contact with environmental objects and the ingestion of a different spectrum of prey.

Differences in foraging behaviour can also affect the probability of encountering diseases or parasites. Boyer et al. (2010) showed that Siberian chipmunks (*Tamias sibiricus*) with higher explorative tendencies are more likely to have a higher parasite load. Behavioural phenotypes can, therefore, indirectly affect animal health by influencing the probability of infection, thereby impacting gut microbiota.

1.4.3 Individual variance and animal personality

It has long been documented that individuals differ in multiple ways in a population (Dall et al., 2012). However, much of the work in psychology and biology in the 20th century put aside individual differences and assumed that variation between subjects was due to uncontrolled factors (Clark & Ehlinger, 1987). Similarly, behavioural ecologists treated intraspecific variation as a maladaptation of individuals around an optimal strategy (Magurran, 1993). Over the last decades, the role of behavioural differences in evolutionary biology has become clearer. We now recognize the importance of taking an individual-based approach because behavioural differences between individuals are linked to differences in fitness (Smith & Blumstein, 2008; Moiron et al., 2020), and that natural selection occurs at this ecological level (Bolnick et al., 2011; Westneat et al., 2014; Toscano et al., 2016).

The concept of animal personality refers to among-individual differences in behaviour that are maintained over time (Réale et al., 2007; Carter et al., 2013). Multiple behavioural continua have been investigated in animal personality research, including activity level, boldness and exploration (Réale et al., 2007). Exploratory behaviour informs on how individuals react to a novel environment and acquire new information about their surroundings. According to the pace-of-life syndrome hypothesis, which stems from life history theory, those behaviours covary with a set of physiological traits, such as HPA axis and parasympathetic system reactivity, which also modulate gut microbiota communities (Amato, 2013; Macke et al., 2017). We could thus think that the metabolic mechanisms used to maintain individual differences in gut microbiota in a population are the same as those maintaining behavioural differences, and that microbiota parameters covary with behaviour (Foster & Neufeld, 2013; Davidson et al., 2020; Jameson et al., 2020b).

Furthermore, animals can vary in their response at different instances for a labile phenotypic trait. This within-individual variation can have substantial impacts on the biology that occurs at higher hierarchical levels (Westneat et al., 2014). For instance, the individual degree of endocrine flexibility can influence the expression of behaviours that are required to survive or reproduce, which can ultimately impact population dynamics (Taff & Vitousek, 2016). For example, in tree swallows (*Tachycineta bicolor*), females that can regulate glucocorticoid levels in response to different contexts fledge more offspring (i.e., have higher reproductive success) because they can better balance the demands of parental care with their stress response (Vitousek et al., 2018).

Ultimately, investigating both within- and among-individual physiological and behavioural differences, in relationship with microbiota variation, is crucial for understanding the subtle but influential mechanisms that drive ecological processes and shape evolutionary outcomes (Figure 1.2).



Figure 1.2 Causes and consequences of individual variation in the diversity and composition of the gut microbiota in relation to extrinsic (environmental effects) and intrinsic factors, and the subsequent impact on host physiology and behavioural traits. Adapted from Davidson et al. (2018).

1.5 Temporal dynamics of the gut microbiota

Temporal stability in gut microbial communities is considered crucial for maintaining host health, as it supports consistent physiological functions (Coyte et al., 2015). While changes in gut microbiota diversity, composition, and stability are anticipated across different life stages, these communities tend to remain relatively stable during adulthood (Lozupone et al., 2012; Faith et al., 2013; Valeri & Endres, 2021). However, few studies on the within-individual dynamics of gut microbes have been done on wild animals despite the important role of the microbiota on host fitness. On shorter time scales, wild gut microbiota can fluctuate in response to seasonal variations, leading to temporal shifts in gut microbiota parameters (Liukkonen et al., 2023; Marsh et al., 2022; Maurice et al., 2015; Orkin et al., 2019; Risely et al., 2022). Acting as a physiological transducer of environmental cues, the gut microbiota's rapid bacterial generation time enables faster host acclimation to stimuli (Alberdi et al., 2016; Hird, 2017; Cusick et al., 2021). Thus, evaluating the mechanisms that maintain gut microbiota balance, along with its responses to disturbances from changing environmental conditions, could provide critical insights into the adaptive potential of animal

species and the role of gut microbes in expanding hosts' ecological ranges (Moran et al., 2019; Greene et al., 2020; Moeller & Sanders, 2020).

Despite the temporal dynamics shown by the gut microbiota, growing evidence suggests that differences in the microbiota between individuals within a population persist across time. Indeed, numerous studies have highlighted a large effect of host identity on the microbiome, often referred to as individuality, over various time scales, ranging from two months to two decades (Degnan et al., 2012; Ren et al., 2017; Risely et al., 2022; Raulo et al., 2024; Somers et al., 2023). Individual signatures in gut microbiota likely arise from several factors that influence microbial selection. Physiological filtering, where host physiological traits selectively filter microbes, plays a crucial role in maintaining individuality (Mallott & Amato, 2021). For example, the composition of gut mucins and antimicrobial peptides, which are controlled by genetic expression, can create niches for specific microbial taxa (Liévin-Le Moal & Servin, 2006). The frequency and intensity of social contacts within host species can also modulate the transmission rate and convergence of the gut microbiota. Individuals with limited social interactions may have more distinct microbiota profiles compared to those with frequent social contacts, as seen in primate social networks (Amato et al., 2017; Tung et al., 2015). Ultimately, high levels of horizontal transmission, where microbes are acquired from the environment or other individuals, can reduce individuality by introducing various microbial taxa in a host's microbiota and by increasing community similarity among interacting individuals. Nevertheless, the extent to which individuality is maintained in natural populations, especially in changing environments, remains unclear.

1.6 Studying gut microbiota in wild populations

Laboratory-based studies have provided valuable insights into the relationship between gut microbes and host physiology, yet these controlled environments and the narrow spectrum of captive species offer only a limited perspective. Captive conditions fail to account for the complexity of natural environments, where varying ecological pressures and fluctuating resources shape the gut microbiota in ways that are not replicated in the lab (Cusick et al., 2021). It has also been shown that captive animals' gut microbiota differs from their wild counterparts (Hird et al., 2017; McKenzie et al., 2017; Davidson et al., 2020), In natural settings, hosts are exposed to a broader array of environmental microbes, dietary resources, social interactions, and other biotic factors, all of which contribute to the dynamic nature of the gut microbiome. Thus, investigating gut microbiota in wild, non-model organisms is crucial for capturing the full spectrum of ecological influences that drive within- and among-individual variation in these microbial communities.

While studying wild animal populations presents challenges, such as the difficulty of inferring causality from observational data, it allows for the exploration of microbiota-behaviour relationships in ecologically relevant contexts. Microbiota-behaviour studies often involve germ-free and specific pathogen-free animals, standardized diets, and controlled environmental exposures—conditions that do not reflect the dynamic and heterogeneous environments faced by wild animals, which can lead to misleading conclusions (Cusick et al., 2021; Davidson et al., 2020). Furthermore, the gut microbiota can influence host behaviour in ways directly tied to survival and reproductive success, making it imperative to study these dynamics outside of controlled laboratory conditions.

However, gut microbiota sample acquisition in wild populations presents significant challenges. Studying individual variance requires a longitudinal approach with replicate sampling of individual study subjects. Capturing wild animals while maintaining non-invasive methods involves additional ethical considerations. Moreover, limiting contamination and properly preserving fecal samples can be difficult. Despite these hurdles, longitudinal microbiome research is essential for understanding the ecological and evolutionary factors that shape gut microbiota, their adaptive significance, and their roles in host fitness.

Thus, our understanding of the stability and individuality of gut microbial communities in wild populations, as well as its relationship with host behaviour, remains incomplete. Studying host-microbiota relationships in natural habitats can reveal how individual microbiomes are maintained or altered over time, at multiple ecological scales (Hird, 2017; Davidson et al., 2020; Cusick et al., 2021).

1.7 Objectives

For my project, I am interested in within-individual (stability) and among-individual (individuality) variation of components of gut microbiota and its link to host traits in a natural population. I especially focus on the contribution of behaviour in shaping gut microbiota. My thesis is therefor divided into three main objectives:

- Assess the relationships between the gut microbiota and host characteristics in a natural population. I present how gut microbiota diversity and composition are structured within a population according to host age, sex and multiple behavioural traits.
- 2. Evaluate the stability of the gut microbiota. I analyse how stable gut microbiota diversity and composition are within individuals throughout one active season.
- 3. Quantify individuality of the gut microbiota over multiple timescales.

I present the relative contribution of host identity in shaping the gut microbiota, and how it is maintained throughout one active season and across two years.

1.8 Study system

The eastern chipmunk (*Tamias striatus*) is a diurnal rodent in the Sciuridae family found throughout most of eastern North America (Elliot, 1978; Snyder, 1982). Eastern chipmunks are active above ground during the day and hoard seeds in their individual burrow. These burrows serve multiple purposes, including resting, sleeping, overwintering, and raising offspring. Chipmunks are solitary but often interact with conspecifics through agonistic interactions while defending their burrow or competing for resources (Couchoux et al., 2021). They have a relatively circular and symmetric home range centered around their burrow system (Yerger, 1953). During winter, eastern chipmunks undergo several torpor bouts, relying on hoarded resources between periods of activity (Munro et al., 2008).

The ecology of the chipmunk population in the Mounts Sutton in Southern Quebec is closely tied to a twoyear-long masting cycle of the red maple (*Acer rubrum*) in spring and of the American beech (*Fagus* grandifolia) in fall (Bergeron et al., 2011a; Dubuc-Messier et al., 2012). In the spring of mast years, population density is at its lowest and the red maple seeds is their primary food source (Tissier et al., 2020; Gharnit et al., 2022). Chipmunks reproduce in the summer and juveniles emerge in early fall, coinciding with the production of beech seeds, they disperse and attempt to find a suitable burrow. This short period is critical for all chipmunks since they must amass enough food to sustain themselves throughout the winter. They also stock additional reserves and avoid dependence on the perishable and ephemeral resources the next spring, such as plant bulbs (e.g., trout lily, *Erythronium americanum* and Carolina springbeauty, *Claytonia caroliniana*), mushrooms, and invertebrates (Tissier et al., 2020). An additional breeding period occurs in early spring following a mast, with juveniles from this cohort emerging in May, leading to a peak in population density. Chipmunks must now wait a whole year for the next red maple mast and summer reproduction. Consequently, the breadth of their diet varies among individuals, between years, and in response to resource abundance (Gharnit et al., 2022). In the context of this study, year 2021 was a mast year, and 2022 was a non-mast year.

The pulsed resource dynamics also generate interannual variation in behaviour. Gharnit et al. (2022) showed an association between individual exploration profiles and multiple dimensions of the spatial niche, such as diet specialisation. These factors are closely linked to measurable aspects of the gut microbiota, offering insights into how it might vary across the population. The long-term monitoring of the southern Quebec population has been ongoing since 2005. Each year, from May to September, morphological, behavioural, and genetic data are collected. The three capture sites (45° 05' N; 72° 25' W; Figure 1.3) are situated within 10 km of each other, and there are no significant differences in genetic structuring between these three subpopulations (Chambers & Garant, 2010). At each site we set a trapping grid with Longworth traps alternately placed at 40 m intervals along linear transects. Chipmunks are baited with peanut butter, live-trapped, and identified using metal ear tags (*National Band and Tag Co.*, Newport, KY, U.S.A.) or with a pit tag (*Trovan Ltd.*, Alberta, Canada).

This study system is exceptionally well-suited for investigating individual variation in the microbiota and its relationship with behaviour. First, it is possible to collect samples with minimal invasiveness. Feces can be directly taken in the trap after manipulating the chipmunk. Secondly, the systematic tagging of individuals allows for repeated sampling over time, allowing for the monitoring of changes in microbiota within the same individuals across different seasons or years. Lastly, the same behavioural tests, such as the open-field test, have been used in numerous studies on this population over the years, revealing consistent individual differences (i.e., personality) in activity and exploration patterns (Montiglio et al., 2012; Santostefano et al., 2021; Gharnit et al., 2022). The ongoing use of these behavioural assessments improves our ability to link specific microbiota profiles to distinct behavioural traits.



Figure 1.3 Geographic location of the three sampling sites, site 1 (MVI: $45^{\circ}06.785'/72^{\circ}26.078'$), site 2 (MV4: $45^{\circ}06.207'/72^{\circ}26.207'$) and site 3 (MV5: $45^{\circ}07.852'/72^{\circ}23.735'$) in the Mounts Sutton, Quebec, Canada.

CHAPTER 2

GUT MICROBIOTA'S TEMPORAL DYNAMICS AND RELATIONSHIPS WITH INDIVIDUAL TRAITS IN A WILD EASTERN CHIPMUNK POPULATION

Authors: Laurie Auclair¹, Dany Garant², Patrick Bergeron³, Albrecht Schulte-Hostedde⁴, Steven Kembel¹ and Denis Réale¹

¹Département des sciences biologiques, Université du Québec à Montréal

²Département de biologie, Université de Sherbrooke

³Department of Biology, Bishop's University,

⁴Department of Biology, Laurentian University

2.1 Abstract

The composition and diversity of the gut microbiota are known to impact host biological processes, and variation among individuals is hypothesized to lead to differences in fitness. However, studies of the gut microbiota in natural contexts are still scarce, and the factors driving individual microbiota variation in wild populations remain unclear. In this study, we sampled the gut microbiota of wild eastern chipmunks (Tamias striatus) over two years to investigate host-related factors influencing microbiota α -diversity and composition. We assessed the relative contribution of individual identity, and evaluated the stability of gut microbial communities. We amplified 16S rRNA gene sequences to quantify the bacterial community composition of 436 faecal samples. Our results revealed that juvenile chipmunks exhibited lower bacterial α -diversity compared to adults. Furthermore, the composition of the gut microbiota varied depending on chipmunk behavioural traits, where high exploration speed and centrality were linked to different microbial communities than those associated with trappability and trap diversity within an active season. Additionally, microbiota diversity was stable and highly individualized within a trapping season, though among-individual differences did not persist from one year to the next. Our findings support the relationship between gut microbiota and behaviour in wild mammals and add to the growing evidence that the individual signature of bacterial diversity and composition is time dependant.

2.2 Introduction

The gut microbiome is of paramount importance to animals (Berg et al., 2020; Ley et al., 2008). Microbial communities of the gut impact multiple physiological processes including immune function, nutrient acquisition and modulating behaviour, and thus play a fundamental role in host survival and fitness (Amato, 2013; Suzuki, 2017). While research in laboratory settings provides valuable insights into host-microbiota relationships under controlled conditions, these environments lack the complexity and variability of natural habitats. Laboratory studies often involve germ-free and specific pathogen-free animals, standardized diets and controlled environmental exposures, which are not representative of the dynamic and heterogeneous conditions faced by wild animals (Cusick et al., 2021; Davidson et al., 2020). In contrast, studying gut microbiota dynamics in natural populations captures the effects of diverse ecological factors, offering a more complete understanding of their roles in host ecology and evolution (Amato, 2016; Hird et al., 2017; Koskella et al., 2017).

Within a host species, individuals vary substantially in the composition of their microbiotas. Previous research has shown that sex, age and genetics drive gut microbial variation (Couch & Epps, 2022; Goodrich et al., 2014; Turpin et al., 2016). For instance, sex-specific patterns often arise due to hormone-microbe interactions (Markle et al., 2013; Sylvia & Demas, 2018). Age-related differences are also prominent, with juveniles typically hosting a distinct and less diverse microbial community compared to adults, as observed in species like wild baboons (Papio cynocephalus; Ren et al., 2016) and Brandt's voles (Lasiopodomys brandtii; Xu & Zhang, 2021). These age-related differences likely stem from physiological changes, dietary shifts, and behavioural changes that occur as individuals mature. Although gut microbial communities can exhibit strong temporal dynamics, growing evidence suggests individual differences in the microbiota within a population persist over time. Numerous studies have highlighted a large effect of host identity on the microbiome, often called "individuality", over various timescales, ranging from two months to two decades (Degnan et al., 2012; Ren et al., 2017; Risely et al., 2022; Raulo et al., 2024; Somers et al., 2023).

Individual signatures in gut microbiota likely arise from several factors that influence microbial selection. Physiological filtering, where host physiological traits selectively filter microbes, plays a crucial role in maintaining individuality (Mallott & Amato, 2021). For example, the composition of gut mucins and antimicrobial peptides, which are controlled by genetic expression, can create niches for specific microbial taxa (Liévin-Le Moal & Servin, 2006). The frequency and intensity of social contacts within host species can also modulate the transmission rate and convergence of the gut microbiota. Individuals with limited social interactions may have more distinct microbiota profiles compared to those with frequent social contacts, as seen in primate social networks (Amato et al., 2017; Tung et al., 2015). Ultimately, high levels of horizontal transmission, where microbes are acquired from the environment or other individuals, can

reduce individuality by introducing a diverse array of microbial taxa and increasing community similarity among interacting individuals. Nevertheless, the extent to which individuality is maintained in natural populations, especially in changing environments, remains unclear.

Some recent work supports the idea that, in wild populations, the contribution of environmental factors in shaping the gut microbiota commonly outweighs the influence of endogenous host factors (Amato, 2013; Ren et al., 2017; Schmidt et al., 2019). Diet and direct exposure to environmental microbes through soil and air are key drivers of vertebrates' gut microbiota (Hird et al., 2015; Leeming et al., 2019; Teyssier et al., 2020; Wu et al., 2011). While diet and habitat selection are partially under host control, other exogenous factors modify the gut microbiota, such as seasonal changes in temperature, humidity, and pathogen prevalence (Baniel et al., 2021; Kartzinel et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2023). These seasonal shifts can generate changes in habitat structure, and in resource availability and diversity, thereby altering the environmental pool of microbes. Consequently, in natural populations, hosts' gut microbiota is expected to vary over time and across space in response to seasonal fluctuations (Liukkonen et al., 2023; Marsh et al., 2022; Maurice et al., 2015; Orkin et al., 2019; Risely et al., 2022). However, our understanding of the temporal stability of gut microbe communities (within-individual variation of the microbiota) in wild host species remains limited, primarily due to the difficulty of acquiring repeated samples of the same individuals over extended periods (Orkin et al., 2019). Longitudinal studies are essential to understand how the gut microbiota is shaped by fluctuations in host state and in the environment.

The relationship between the gut microbiota and behaviour has attracted attention in the recent years. Gastrointestinal microbes can induce neurochemical changes in the brain by affecting the central nervous system, and consequently alter host cognition and behaviour (Davidson et al., 2020). For example, studies on nonhuman animals have shown relationships between gut microbial communities and aggressiveness (Sylvia et al., 2016), social behaviour (Archie & Tung, 2015), exploratory behaviour and anxiety (Bercik et al., 2011; Bravo et al., 2011; Diaz Heijtz et al., 2011; Foster & Neufeld, 2013). In wild populations, exploration and anxiety-related behaviours are involved in individual differences in foraging strategies (Spiegel et al., 2017), diet (Gharnit et al., 2022; Herath et al., 2021), pathogen transmission (Boyer et al., 2010; Webber & Willis, 2020) and habitat use (Boon et al., 2008; Pearish et al., 2013), which can alter and modulate microbial exposures. Still, the ecological relevance of the microbiome-gut-brain axis remains largely unexplored.

Descriptive data on wild gut microbiomes are starting to accumulate, but longitudinal studies incorporating behavioural measures remain scarce. Here, we studied eastern chipmunks (Tamias striatus) from a wild population in southern Québec, Canada, to (1) investigate how the gut microbiota diversity varied with individual hosts characteristics (sex, age and behaviour) and environmental factors within a single year of

activity, (2) examine the stability of the microbiota over that same period, and (3) quantify the relative contribution of host identity (individuality) in shaping gut microbe communities over one year and across years.

Eastern chipmunks in southern Québec have been studied extensively for nearly two decades and represent an ideal system to expand on previous research on host-microbiome relationships. They experience major shifts in food resource availability due to the heavily seasonal environment and the among-year fluctuation in seed production by dominant deciduous trees, resulting in contrasting population densities from one year to another (Bergeron et al., 2011; Tissier et al., 2020). Specifically, the ecology of chipmunks largely depends on a two-year-long masting cycle of the red maple (Acer rubrum) and American beech (Fagus grandifolia; Bergeron et al., 2011a; Tissier et al. 2020). Although they consume a variety of plants, mushrooms and invertebrates (Tissier et al., 2020), the breadth of their diet varies among individuals and with resource abundance and availability (Gharnit et al., 2022). During the spring of mast years, population density is at its lowest and the red maple is their main food source (Tissier et al., 2020; Gharnit et al., 2022), while during the fall, chipmunks predominantly harvest and store American beech tree seeds in their burrow for the winter. Population density usually peaks in the spring following a mast year. In this study, 2021 was a mast year, while 2022 was a non-mast year.

The pulsed resource dynamics also generate interannual variation in behaviour. Gharnit et al. (2022) showed that individual differences in exploration profiles are associated with multiple dimensions of spatial niche use, such as dietary specialization. Furthermore, individuals in this population show consistent differences in several behaviours across time or through situations (Gharnit et al., 2022; Montiglio et al., 2012; Santostefano et al., 2021).

Thus, we expected that individual traits, such as sex, age and behaviour, would play a significant role in shaping gut microbiota diversity and composition due to their interactions with host physiology and ecology. We also hypothesized that while individuality will be evident in the microbiota within a single year, the persistence across years would be weakened given the strong effects of masting events on resource availability. Finally, we expected the individual microbiota to remain stable across time points within a year. By addressing these objectives, our study seeks to clarify the relative contributions of host identity, intrinsic and extrinsic factors in shaping the gut microbiota of wild mammal populations.

2.3 Methods

2.3.1 Study system and sites

We live-trapped eastern chipmunks (Tamias striatus) at three sites of 6.76 ha (site 1 and 2) and 3.24 ha (site 3), located in a deciduous forest of Mounts Sutton, southern Québec, Canada (45° 05' N; 72° 25' W). All three sites are less than 10 km apart and the three subpopulations are genetically identical (Chambers & Garant, 2010). At each site we established a trapping grid with Longworth traps alternately placed at 40 m intervals along linear transects.

Eastern chipmunks are active above ground during the day and hoard seeds in their individual burrows, which they use to rest, sleep, overwinter, raise their offspring, and that they defend against conspecifics. Although solitary, chipmunks often engage in agonistic interactions while defending their burrows or competing for resources (Couchoux et al., 2021). They have a relatively circular and symmetric home range centred around their burrow system (Yerger, 1953). At our study sites, home range sizes are stable with an average diameter of 37 m for females and vary between a diameter of 47 m in non-mast years to 90 m in mast years for males (Montiglio, 2009). Additionally, the immediate social environment can influence the phenotype of an individual for life history, behaviour, and morphological traits (Santostefano et al. 2021), which may subsequently affect the spatial distribution of gut microbes across sampling sites.

2.3.2 Sample collection

We conducted daily trapping from May to mid-September in 2021 and from May to mid-August in 2022. Traps were baited using peanut butter and checked every two hours, from 8:00 a.m. until 4:00 p.m. Upon first capture, we marked individuals with metal ear tags with a unique code (National Band and Tag Co., Newport, KY, U.S.A.) and a pit tag (Trovan Ltd., Alberta, Canada). At each capture, we recorded the identity, the sex, and determined the age class (juvenile or adult; Bergeron et al. 2011b). We also collected stool samples from the traps using sterilized tweezers after handling and identifying each chipmunk. We put faecal pellets in RNAlater Stabilization Solution (Thermo Fisher Scientific). We kept the samples in a cooler for a maximum of six hours then stored them at -20 °C. Four blank extractions were made throughout the season to check for potential contamination during the collection process.

In 2021, we took one sample per individual in the spring (May—June) and a second one in the late summer (mid-July—mid-September) if the chipmunk was trapped anew (139 individuals, 180 samples). In 2022, to analyse variation among individuals in the ASV richness and composition of the microbiota, we gathered three to six samples per individual throughout the season (May—mid-August), with at least six days

between the collection of each sample (61 individuals, 256 samples). We collected 436 samples from 172 individuals. Twenty-eight individuals were trapped in both years.

2.3.3 Behavioural assays

We used an open-field test (OF) to record horizontal locomotion and thigmotaxis/centrality as indices of chipmunk exploration speed and anxiety, respectively (Gharnit et al., 2020; Montiglio et al., 2010, 2012; Santostefano et al., 2021; Réale et al., 2007). Individual repeatability for exploration speed in the OF in this population has previously been estimated to 0.32 (Montiglio et al., 2010), 0.26 (Santostefano et al., 2021) and 0.41 (Gharnit et al., 2020). Montiglio et al., (2012) also found moderate repeatability for centrality (r = 0.20).

The OF tests were performed once a year, at the OF area, in the centre of the trapping grid, from the last week of May until the first week of July. Upon capture, we identified the trapped chipmunk, then kept it in the trap to carry it to the OF arena, which consisted of a wooden box with gridlines at the bottom and a transparent plexiglass lid. Before going into the OF arena, we transferred the chipmunk into a small chamber connected to the OF where it stayed for 60s. We then videotaped its behaviour for 90 s. The OF was cleaned with 70% ethanol after every test. For each test, we analysed the videos and measured exploration as the number of lines crossed ("exploration speed") and anxiety as the proportion of time spent in the centre of the arena ("centrality"; Montiglio et al., 2012).

We used the number of times an individual was trapped during the active season ("trappability") as a proxy for above-ground activity throughout the active season, and the number of different traps used ("trap diversity") as a proxy for space use (Paquette et al., 2020). In chipmunks, trap diversity and trappability are related to increased infestation by ticks (Ixodes ricinus; Boyer et al. 2010), and bot flies (Cuterebra spp.; Paquette et al. 2020).

2.3.4 DNA extraction and sequencing

We used amplicon sequencing to quantify gut bacterial communities. DNA was extracted from the samples using Norgen Stool DNA Isolation Kits (Norgen Biotek Corp) following the manufacturer's instructions. The V4-V5 hypervariable regions of the 16S rRNA gene were amplified using the 515 F/926R universal bacterial primers (Walters et al., 2015) and sequenced on an Illumina MiSeq. PCR conditions were an initial denaturation at 98°C for 30 s, 30 cycles of denaturation at 98°C for 15 s, of primer annealing at 50°C of 30 s, and of extension at 72°C of 30 s, with a final extension of 10 min at 72°C. Samples from the two years were sequenced on two separate runs. The library preparation, the sequencing and demultiplexing of sequence reads were conducted at the UQAM CERMO-FC Genomics Platform.

2.3.5 Data processing/Bioinformatics

All sequence reads were processed using the DADA2 pipeline (version 1.28.0; Callahan et al., 2016) in R (version 4.3.0; R Core Team, 2023). After visually assessing the quality profiles of the sequences, we retained nucleotides at positions 19–175 bp for the forward DNA sequences and positions 20–260 bp for the reverse sequences. We identified amplicon sequence variants (ASV) with the DADA2 function "dada" in pseudo-pooling mode and removed probable chimeras with the function "removeBimeraDenovo" using consensus pooling mode, resulting in a total of 8 939 647 sequences derived from 28 654 ASVs. The total number of sequences varied among samples, ranging from 3597 to 63 794 sequences per sample. We used the SILVA database (version 138.1; Quast et al., 2013) and the "assignTaxonomy" function to determine the taxonomic identity of all ASVs. We evaluated the mock community composition in the positive controls and subsequently excluded these samples from the dataset. Furthermore, we eliminated all non-bacterial sequences, totaling 39 411 sequences. We rarefied the dataset to 3800 sequences per sample using the R package phyloseq (version 1.44.0; McMurdie & Holmes, 2013), as this threshold was sufficient to capture the vast majority of ASVs in samples (Fig. S1). All negative controls were excluded except for one containing 7613 sequences, which was removed due to a predominance of Rhizobium, a common soil bacterium. The final dataset contained 6389 ASVs across 436 samples.

2.3.6 Data analysis

A preliminary analysis of the correlations between host variables showed that trap diversity increased with trappability (corr = 0.64). However, we decided to keep both variables in our models since they provide complementary information about the individual spatial ecology, and therefore could affect the gut microbiota differently. We considered the age category as an inherent host characteristic since the assigned age was fixed within yearly sampling period. Continuous predictor variables were centred and scaled before analyses.

To estimate sample α -diversity, we computed two complementary diversity measures: observed ASV richness (the count of ASVs per sample, hereafter referred to as richness) and the Shannon diversity index, which accounts for both richness and taxa abundance ("diversity" function from the using the vegan package; version 2.6-4; Oksanen et al., 2022). For each model, we first ran the model with richness as the response variable then with the Shannon index. All statistical analyses were conducted in R (version 4.3.0; R Core Team, 2023).

2.3.6.1 Host traits and within-year stability

Using data from 2022 only, we tested for the relationship between host characteristics and microbiota ASV richness and Shannon index. We also tested for potential individual differences in the richness and α -diversity throughout the summer. For this analysis we used two separate random slope models (Schielzeth & Forstmeier, 2009) with each diversity measure as the response variable, and we included chipmunk sex (female or male as factor), age (juvenile or adult as factor), exploration speed, centrality, trap diversity, trappability, capture day (Julian day), and site (sites 1-3 as factors) as fixed effects. The random slopes consisted of the interaction between sampling day (n = 48) and chipmunk identity as a random effect. We calculated the R² values using the *MuMIn* package (version 1.47.5; Bartoń, 2009).

To investigate the individual-level dynamics of α -diversity measures over time, we extracted the correlation coefficient between intercept and slope from our random slope models. This correlation coefficient reveals whether there is a systematic linear relationship between the initial microbiota diversity level (intercept) and the rate of change in diversity (slope) across individuals. A null intercept-slope correlation indicates that initial diversity levels do not predict the rate of change, though individuals can still exhibit wide variations in their slopes. These variations may be independent of initial diversity levels. To validate the patterns underlying the correlation, we examined the plot and assessed the model fit. Next, keeping the same fixed-effect structure, we used likelihood ratio tests (LRT) to compare the goodness of fit of the random-slope models (i.e., individuals differ in both their levels at the intercept and in their slopes) and a null model (i.e., no differences between individuals in both levels at the intercept and slopes).

To analyze the composition of the gut microbiota, we Hellinger-transformed the community matrix, conducted partial redundancy analyses (RDA) and partitioned the variance between groups of variables, with significance assessed using a permutation test (Legendre & Legendre, 2012). Analyses were done using the *vegan* package. The first partial RDA had the same structure as the α -diversity models, except the response variable was the transformed community matrix. We extracted the two ASVs that had the highest and lowest scores on the first three axes. We then used the function *varpart* to partition the variation in community data between four sets of variables: inherent characteristics (sex and age), behaviour (exploration speed, centrality, trap diversity, trappability), site and Julian day.

To verify potential relationships between host behaviour profile and gut bacterial phylum relative abundances, we first did a visual inspection on bar plots, with chipmunk identities ordered according to each behavioural measure. Also, we extracted the post-rarefaction abundance of the two main phylum (*Bacteroidetes* and *Firmicutes*) in adults and modelled them separately in a GLMM with a Poisson

distribution using the same fixed effects as the previous models to inspect taxon stability and relationships with explanatory variables.

2.3.7 Individuality of the gut microbiota diversity and composition

To estimate individuality of the microbiota through one trapping season, we calculated the repeatability (Nakagawa & Schielzeth, 2013) of the previous α -diversity models using the rptR package (Stoffel et al., 2017). To assess individuality in the gut microbiota composition, we ran a partial of chipmunk identity as the sole explanatory variable, while controlling for all the other host variables.

We tested for differences in gut microbiota α -diversity between years and estimated cross-year individual consistency in α -diversity. Using lme4 package (version 1.1-33; Bates et al., 2015), we first ran separate mixed-effect models with the two α -diversity measures as the response variable, with year (2021 and 2022), Julian day, age, sex and site as fixed effects, and chipmunk identity (2021, n = 139; 2022, n = 61) as a random effect, to explore patterns between years.

Secondly, to quantify individuality over the years and to control for differences in the sampling and age structure between 2021 and 2022, we selected the first sample of each year for all adults captured in both years (n = 28). Since we could not calculate repeatability due to the lack of replicated individual samples of the microbiota in 2021, we calculated the Pearson correlation coefficient between the two α -diversity measures from 2021 to 2022 to assess cross-year individuality. To investigate individuality in the composition of the gut microbiota from one year to another, we conducted a redundancy analysis on the bacterial community matrix with chipmunk identity and year as fixed effects, while controlling for variance between sites. The proportion of variance explained by chipmunk identity, and the adjusted repeatability measure ("RsquareAdj" function in vegan) provide insights into the persistence of individuality in the composition of microbe communities. Finally, we ran a Poisson GLMM with Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes abundances as the response variable, added year as a fixed effect, and calculated the repeatability to infer inter-year taxa individuality.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Alpha diversity analysis

2.4.1.1 Host characteristics and traits

Adult and female chipmunks had significantly higher ASV richness and Shannon index values compared to juveniles and males, respectively (Table 2.1). The lower α -diversity in males was, however, driven by the samples of one juvenile chipmunk (see supplementary material, Figure S2.1).

Behaviours and sampling sites were not significant predictors of gut microbiota ASV richness or Shannon index (Table 2.1). However, when juveniles were removed from the dataset, site 2 showed a significantly lower richness than the two others (see Table S2.1). Richness increased with Julian day, but only when juveniles were included in the model. The fixed effects explained 17% (marginal R^2) of the variation in Shannon index, while the conditional R^2 , which accounts for fixed and random effects, was estimated at 58%. The marginal and conditional R^2 of the richness model were 32% and 96%, respectively (Table 2.1).

Table 2.1 Effects of sex, age, site, Julian day and behaviour traits on the gut microbiota ASV richness and Shannon diversity index of our study chipmunk population in southern Québec, Canada, over an active season (2022). We used a mixed-effect model with random slopes. The marginal and the conditional R^2 , for the richness model, were 0.32 and 0.96, respectively. For the Shannon model, the marginal and the conditional R^2 , were 0.17 and 0.58, respectively. "Corr." corresponds to the correlation between the intercepts and the slopes.

	ASV	ASV richness Sh			annon	
	Estimate (± SE)	z-value	p-value	Estimate (± SE)	t-value	p-value
Intercept	5.96 (± 0.04)	140.82	< 0.001	4.85 (± 0.06)	80.24	< 0.001
Site (Site 2)	$-0.06 (\pm 0.06)$	-1.04	0.30	-0.13 (± 0.10)	-1.32	0.19
Site (Site 3)	$0.06~(\pm 0.06)$	1.14	0.26	$-0.04 (\pm 0.09)$	-0.42	0.68
Julian day	0.03 (± 0.07)	2.22	0.03	0.03 (± 0.02)	1.30	0.20
Age (Juvenile)	-0.19 (± 0.05)	-2.69	0.007	-0.36 (± 0.11)	-3.32	0.002
Sex (Male)	-0.12 (± 0.03)	-2.31	0.02	-0.19 (± 0.08)	-2.26	0.03
Exploration	0.01 (± 0.03)	0.48	0.63	$-0.04 (\pm 0.04)$	- 1.10	0.28
Centrality	0.01 (± 0.02)	0.53	0.60	-0.01 (± 0.04)	- 0.37	0.71
Trap diversity	$-0.02 (\pm 0.01)$	-0.63	0.53	$-0.03 (\pm 0.05)$	- 0.58	0.57
Trappability	$-0.04 \ (\pm 0.02)$	-1.18	0.24	$-0.05 (\pm 0.05)$	-1.04	0.30
	Variance	Corr.		Variance	Corr.	
ID (Intercept)	0.051			0.067		
Julian day	0.011	-0.71		0.003	-0.62	
Residuals				0.071		
n = 256, id = 61						

2.4.2 Stability

At the population level, richness increased significantly with Julian day (Table 2.1). Including random slopes improved the fit of the model compared to the random intercept model (LRT $\chi^2 = 292.18$, p < 0.001, Fig 2.1A, Table S2.2). The correlation between intercept and slope in the richness model was strongly negative (-0.71, Table 2.1) meaning that individuals with low richness value at the average date showed greater increases in richness over time than individuals with high richness at this date (Fig. 2.1A).

The Shannon index did not change significantly with Julian day (Table 2.1). Adding random slopes to this model did not improve the fit of the data (LRT $\chi^2 = 1.89$, p = 0.39, Fig 2.1B, Table S2.2), indicating that slopes for Shannon index with time did not vary significantly among individuals. The addition of random intercepts improved the fit of a null model (LRT $\chi^2 = 46.74$, p < 0.001, Table S2.2). We, however, show the

random slope model (Fig 2.1B) to interpret the fixed effects and other random effects while controlling for pseudoreplication (Schielzeth & Forstmeier, 2009).



Figure 2.1 Predicted slopes for individual ASV richness and Shannon Index (n = 61) of the gut microbiota of eastern chipmunks from our study population in southern Québec, Canada, from May to July 2022. The predictions were adjusted for site 1, females, and at the mean of all host behavioural measures.

2.4.3 Individuality

In 2022, host identity explained most of the variance in both α -diversity models (Table 2.1). That year, we detected repeatable individual differences in ASV richness (r = 0.46, p < 0.001) and Shannon diversity index values (r = 0.45, p < 0.001).

Pearson correlations between the gut microbiota α -diversity measures across years were not significantly different from 0 (richness: Pearson r = -0.24, p = 0.22; Shannon: Pearson r = -0.21, p = 0.29).

2.5 Composition analysis

2.5.1 Taxonomic characterization and phylum level relative abundance

The eastern chipmunk gut microbiota was dominated by Bacteroidetes (73% of sequences), primarily from the Muribaculaceae and Prevotellaceae families, and Firmicutes (22% of sequences), mainly from the Lachnospiraceae family.

None of the host variables varied with Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes abundance. Additionally, we found no evidence for the stability of these taxa over the course of one year. However, we observed some individuality in Firmicutes abundance (r = 0.20) but not in Bacteroidetes abundance (r = 0.05). The inter-year models revealed that samples taken in 2022 contained a lower proportion of Bacteroidetes, with an estimated rate ratio of 0.98 (SE = 0.005, z = -3.83, p < 0.001, 95% CI: 0.97, 0.99). In contrast, chipmunks harboured on average more Firmicutes, with an estimated rate ratio of 1.03 (SE = 0.009, z = 3.45, p < 0.001, 95% CI: 1.01, 1.05; Fig. S2.2).

2.5.2 Variance partitioning

In the main redundancy analysis, we found that age, sex, behaviour, capture site and julian day explained 7.6% of the total variance in gut bacterial communities. The Venn diagram (Fig. 2.2) showed that most of the variance was not shared between variable types. The Julian day explained 0.9% of variance while sex and age explained 1.5%. Behaviours altogether explained 2.2% of variance. All four behaviours contributed somewhat equally to the variation of the microbiota, explaining between 0.57% and 0.73% of its composition (see Fig. S2.3). Differences in the microbiota between sites were responsible for 2.5% of variance.

Chipmunks from a same site hosted more similar gut bacterial communities than chipmunks from different sites (Fig. 2.3A). Site 1 and 2 were more similar than Site 3. Site 1 and 2 differed on the second axis of the ordination (RDA2), while Site 3 differed from the two other sites on the first axis (RDA1) (Fig. 2.3A).

2.5.3 Stability and individuality of the bacterial composition

In 2022, the microbiota composition showed little variation at the within-individual scale (Fig. 2.3B). Many ellipses in the ordination are small and narrow, illustrating a high stability of the bacterial community composition within individuals across samples. A few ellipses are apart and do not overlap with any other ellipse, suggesting that some individuals host distinct gut microbiota communities. The redundancy analysis with the chipmunk identity as the sole response variable indicated that 29.3% of variance in the gut

microbiota composition was attributed to differences between individuals, which denotes a degree of individuality in the composition of bacterial communities in this population.

Over a longer timescale (i.e., 2021 and 2022 combined), the composition of the individual microbiota weakly persisted from one year to another, with chipmunk identity accounting for 2.8% of variance in the bacterial communities ($R^2_{adj} = 0.028$, p = 0.029, Table S2.4). However, when analyzing the RDA ordination, we found that some chipmunks' microbiota tended to be very similar in both years (ex. -N052 and Q031), and that other individuals show different communities (ex. Q070 and Q090, Fig S2.4).



Figure 2.2 Proportion of variation in gut bacterial communities explained by site, Julian day, sex and age, and behaviour (including exploration speed, centrality, trappability and trap diversity) from May to July 2022 in eastern chipmunks from our study population in southern Québec, Canada.

2.5.4 Microbiota composition and behaviour

Given that the axes RDA2 and RDA3 explained similar amounts of variance (1.2% and 1.0%, respectively) and that *trappability* and *trap diversity* were barely represented by the second axis, we decided to analyse both ordinations jointly.

Fast explorers had high scores along the RDA1 axis (Fig. 2.3C), whereas slow thorough explorers were associated with low scores of this axis. Additionally, highly central chipmunks (low anxiety) had both high score along the RDA1 axis and a low score along the RDA2 axis. The genus *Treponema* (phylum *Spirochaetota*) and *Prevotella* (phylum *Bacteroidota*) are the two main taxa positively associated with the first axis. *Treponema* and bacteria from the *Muribaculaceae* family are also negatively associated with the second axis.

Microbial composition along RDA3 was associated trappability and trap diversity (Fig. 2.3D). The taxa negatively related to the third axis are the genus *Butyricimonas* and *Bacteroides*, both from the *Bacteroidota* phylum



Figure 2.3 Redundancy analysis of gut microbiota samples of eastern chipmunks from our study population in southern Québec, Canada, through the active season (2022). Sites (A), individual ellipses (B), inherent characteristics and behaviours (C, D) are presented. The axes RDA1 and RDA2 are shown in C while D illustrates RDA1 and RDA3.

2.6 Discussion

In this study, we described the bacterial gut microbiota of wild eastern chipmunks over two years and analysed the relative contribution of host individual traits and environmental factors in shaping these communities. The taxonomic composition of the bacteria in the microbiota of wild Tamias striatus revealed a typical chipmunk gastrointestinal bacterial profile, dominated by Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes, consistent with previous findings (Grond et al., 2020; Zhou et al., 2022). We found evidence of an individual signature of the gut microbiota over the course of one year (2022) for all diversity measures. These differences among individuals did not persist across years for α -diversity, whereas the microbiota composition was slightly persistent from one year to another. Dynamics of ASV richness differed among individuals within a year, but the Shannon index remained stable. Additionally, age was a major factor that influenced both gut bacteria α -diversity measures. Although we did not find any relationships between α -diversity and behaviour, our results did reveal patterns with the composition of the microbiota. Specifically, we observed differing communities between two pairs of behaviours: exploration speed and centrality, and trappability and trap diversity. The largest portion of variance in microbiota composition was explained by sampling sites, followed by individual behaviour.

Previous studies have shown a large effect of host identity on gut microbiota (Degnan et al., 2012; Marsh et al., 2022; Ren et al., 2017; Turnbaugh & al., 2009). In our study, we found that both a-diversity and composition of the gut microbiota were moderately repeatable (i.e., 0.46 for richness, 0.45 for Shannon index and 0.29 for microbiota composition) within a year, indicating the presence of individualized microbial signatures in this population. However, when analysed over a longer timescale of two years, none of the differences between individuals in the microbiota α -diversity persisted, and individuality of the microbiota composition was reduced to 2.8%. Mallott (2022) recently highlighted that in most longitudinal studies of wild populations, individuality of the gut microbiota is time-dependent and decreases considerably over time. For instance, a two-decade study on wild meerkats (Suricata suricatta) by Risely et al. (2022) found that inter-year variation overrides the signal of individuality for samples collected more than two months apart. This pattern is expected in populations where horizontal transmission mechanisms, such as frequent social contact or strong environmental colonization, are predominant. At our study site, the two-year pulsed resource production cycles of dominant trees directly impacts both resources availability and population density, thus possibly leading to varying pools of environmental bacteria. This variation could overshadow the effects of individualized gut microbiota signatures in eastern chipmunks from one year to the next. Furthermore, during winter, chipmunks go through several torpor bouts, with important changes in their physiology, and feed on a restricted food reserve (Humphries et al., 2002). These conditions may promote the convergence of the microbiome across individuals between the end of the summer and

next spring, potentially reducing individuality of the gut microbiota in the population. Future research should investigate whether individuality persists when comparing ecologically analogous years in pulse systems as this could provide insight into the contribution of external factors in shaping the gut microbiota in the wild. Interestingly, some chipmunks exhibited very similar gut bacterial compositions over the years (e.g., N052 and Q031; Fig. S5) and showed a highly persistent α -diversity (Fig. S6). In contrast, another chipmunk (Q090; Fig. S5) had dissimilar communities between 2021 and 2022, with a significant increase in both α -diversity measures from one year to the next (Fig. S6). Conversely, another individual (R085; Fig. S5) also exhibited differing communities over the years but maintained a persistent α -diversity (Fig. S6). These observations suggest that the richness and Shannon index alone might be inadequate to measure gut microbiota individuality. Individuals with stable α -diversity could still experience partial turnover in their gut communities, which is not captured by traditional α -diversity metrics and could lead to misleading conclusions (Johnson & Burnet, 2016).

The consensus of a stable gut microbiota diversity through time has been challenged in the past decade (Ren et al., 2016; Risely et al., 2022; Sadoughi et al., 2022). Although the study population lives in a heavily seasonal environment, we found no evidence of an individual shift in Shannon diversity through time. However, chipmunks' microbiota showed different dynamics of richness over the summer: a few chipmunks hosted a high number of bacterial ASVs in early spring, followed by a steep reduction. The gut microbiota of most individuals maintained a stable ASV count around the population mean, while several individuals emerge in spring with a lower richness and gradually accumulate ASVs as time goes by. Given that ASV richness is accounted for in the calculation of the Shannon index, our findings suggest that while dominant taxa show stability over time, the dynamics of rare taxa differ among individuals of this population. Seasonal changes in chipmunk physiology such as previous reproductive activity status (either the preceding summer and/or early spring) or individual differences in winter torpidity cycles and emergence from hibernation might affect colonization of certain microbes. Indeed, Zhou et al. (2022) found that hibernation and arousal significantly altered both α -diversity and β -diversity of the gut microbiota of Siberian chipmunks (*Eutamia* sibiricus), supporting the hypothesis of torpor-related shifts in the eastern chipmunk gut microbiome. Alternatively, the quantity and quality of burrow-hoarded food resource could also explain differences in richness in early spring, since the nutrient content of food resources (Carabotti et al., 2015) and fasting (Sonoyama et al., 2009) have been shown to alter the gut microbiota.

Unsurprisingly, we found that the α -diversity of chipmunks' gut microbiota was dependent on age: juveniles harboured on average a lower gut bacterial diversity than mature individuals. Multiple studies have found that the α -diversity tends to increase from early life to adulthood in many host taxa, including humans (Xu et al., 2019), wild baboons (*Papio cynocephalus*; Ren et al., 2016), barn swallows (*Hirundo rustica*;

Kreisinger et al., 2017), and Brandt's voles (*Lasiopodomys brandtii*; Xu & Zhang, 2021). This gain in diversity can be associated with a combination of external factors, including changes in diet and gradual exposure to novel environmental microbes; in our study system, trapped juveniles had few opportunities to expand the breadth of their gut microbiota. After emergence from their natal burrow, young disperse within the next two weeks and must find a burrow (Elliott, 1978), which tends to be in a low-quality area (Gaudreau-Rousseau et al., 2023). Fewer interactions with conspecifics, limited food resources, and the suboptimal microenvironment surrounding the available burrows could explain the reduced gut microbiota diversity observed in juvenile chipmunks.

Differing physiology or ecology between females and males in wild populations often lead to sex-dependent patterns in host gut microbiota (Stothart et al., 2019). Given that eastern chipmunks differ between sexes in their dispersal patterns (Dubuc-Messier et al., 2012), faecal cortisol concentration (Montiglio et al., 2012), behaviour and diet (Gharnit et al., 2022), we expected to find relationships with either diversity or composition of gut bacterial communities. We found differences in the gut microbiota α -diversity between female and male chipmunks, but that were entirely dependent on host age. This result may be due to the uneven sampling between male and female juveniles: our sample included only one juvenile male as opposed to eight juvenile females. Soon after emergence, young males disperse further from the natal burrow than females, which makes their long-term monitoring challenging. A more thorough sampling of juvenile chipmunks to avoid confounding effects, and integrating data on reproductive status and hormone fluctuation, could give important insight into how the gut microbiota varies among sexes in this population.

Relationships between behaviour and several parameters of the gut microbiota α -diversity have been established in humans (Johnson, 2020) and multiple animal species (Partrick et al., 2018; Florkowski & Yorzinski, 2023; Xia et al., 2024). In contrast, we found no evidence for a relationship between chipmunk behaviour phenotypes and the α -diversity of their gut microbiota in our study system. The contrast between the absence of effects of individual traits on microbial α -diversity and the strong repeatability of these two traits indicates that other unmeasured traits are probably related to such variation in microbial communities. Li et al. (2016) found that diet diversity in wild plateau pikas (*Ochotona curzoniae*) did not affect gut microbiota α -diversity, but was associated with b-diversity, suggesting no linear relationship between microbiota richness and diet breadth. In line with this finding, our redundancy analysis revealed that a considerable part of the among-individual variation in the composition of the microbiota was due to individual differences in behaviour. Although our experimental design prevented us from predicting causal effects between the microbiota and behaviour, it is interesting to note that while behavioural differences in this population are consistent through time (Gharnit et al., 2022; Montiglio et al., 2012; Santostefano et al., 2021), the microbiota does not persist from one year to another. These results suggest that it is unlikely that gut microbes explain interindividual differences in behaviour.

Gut bacterial communities associated with exploration speed differed slightly from those associated with centrality. Multiple studies have found that animals with lower concentrations of faecal glucocorticoid metabolites (i.e., lowly anxious animals, fast explorers) were associated with an increase in the relative abundance of intestinal pathogens (Noguera et al., 2018; Petrosus et al., 2018; Petrullo et al., 2022). Given that host health and immune system activation can have important impacts on gut microbiota composition, fast explorers and highly central individuals could offer differing gastrointestinal conditions, and thus, host distinct communities. Our redundancy analysis also shows that gut microbiota composition is divided between two pairs of behaviours: exploration speed and centrality on RDA1, and trappability and trap diversity on RDA3. One possible explanation is that each pair reflect different characteristics of the host, each impacting a distinct dimension of the host-microbiota relationship. Exploration speed and centrality are both accepted measures of response to novelty and anxiety, respectively (Belzung, 1999; Kraeuter, 2019), which reflect the effects of host stress physiology on gut bacterial communities. Alternatively, trap diversity and trappability are behaviours that are mostly associated with the physical interactions between the host and its environment, independently selecting for other bacterial ASVs. These results highlight the multifaceted nature of the gut microbiota-host relationship, where different behavioural traits associated with physiological and environmental interactions contribute uniquely to shaping microbial communities in wild populations.

Although the microbiota was not significantly different among sites in our main α -diversity models, we found that adults had a lower richness in site 2. Our findings align with a prior study in voles, where gut microbiota α -diversity was correlated with landscape characteristics (Jameson, 2021). Interestingly, we observed a decrease in chipmunk activity on site 2 in the past four years. This site now corresponds to the site with the lowest chipmunk density. We hypothesize that beech bark disease might have affected more trees on site 2, reducing the quality of the habitat and chipmunk density. Furthermore, most of the variation of the gut microbiota composition in the population was explained by differences between sites, site 3 communities being distinct from sites 1 and 2. Although all sampling sites are located within 4 km from one another, site 3 is farther in distance and more isolated from the two other sites. This evident spatial structure suggests that microhabitats are a major driver of gut microbiome dynamics in the wild. This finding is consistent with what other studies have observed for wild red squirrels (*Tamiasciurus hudsonicus*; Ren et al., 2017) and house mice (*Mus musculus domesticus*; Goertz et al., 2019), where microbial composition varied at a small local scale. Additionally, site 3 has unique ecological factors that can contribute to changing

the available environmental pool of bacteria, such as higher humidity (Liu et al., 2023), increased abundance of conifers (Amato et al., 2016) and interspecific competitors such as red squirrels (He et al., 2018).

In summary, our study highlights the complex interplay between host traits, environmental factors, and gut microbiota composition and α -diversity in wild eastern chipmunks. While juvenile chipmunks exhibited lower bacterial α -diversity than adults, behaviour and sampling sites significantly influenced gut microbial communities. The individuality and stability of gut microbiota were evident within a single active season, but individuality diminished across the years, supporting that environmental factors have a major impact on gut microbial communities. Our findings underscore the need for further research into the temporal dynamics and ecological factors shaping the gut microbiota in wild populations.

2.7 Acknowledgements

We thank all field workers for their help with sample collection, as well as Pauline Van Leeuwen and Geneviève Bourret of UQAM CERMO-FC Genomics Core for their help with laboratory work and with analyses. This work was supported by the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC) Discovery grant to DR, the Fonds de Recherche du Québec–Nature et technologies (FRQNT) team grant to PB for funding.

2.8 Supplementary materials

Table S2.1: Effects of sex, site, Julian day and behaviour traits on the gut microbiota ASV richness of the adults of a chipmunk population of Mounts Sutton in Québec, Canada, over an active season (2022).

	Estimate (± SE)	z-value	p-value
(Intercept)	5.977 (± 0.02)	241.346	0.000
Site (Site 2)	$-0.104 (\pm 0.04)$	-2.461	0.014*
Site (Site 3)	0.053 (± 0.04)	1.267	0.205
Sex (Male)	-0.042 (± 0.04)	-1.187	0.235
Trap diversity	$-0.022 (\pm 0.02)$	-1.096	0.273
Trappability	$0.002 (\pm 0.02)$	0.073	0.942
Exploration	$-0.020 (\pm 0.02)$	-1.241	0.215
Julian day	0.012 (± 0.01)	1.055	0.291
Centrality	$0.003 (\pm 0.02)$	0.191	0.849
	Variance	Corr.	
ID (Intercept)	0.012 (± 0.11)		
Julian day	$0.005 (\pm 0.07)$	-0.31	
n = 224, id = 52	·		

Table S2.2 α-diversity analysis – likelihood ratio tests

Response variable	Model type	χ^2	p-value
Richness	Null – RI	1930.90	< 0.001*
	RI - RS	292.18	< 0.001*
Shannon	Null – RI	48.62	< 0.001*
	RI - RS	1.89	0.39

df = degrees of freedom, RI = random intercept model, RS = random slope model

Table S2.3 Effects of sex, age, site, Julian day and behaviour traits on the gut microbiota composition of a chipmunk population of Mounts Sutton in Québec, Canada, from May to July 2022.

Variable	F	p-value
Sex	3.51	<0.001*
Age	3.95	<0.001*
Site	4.47	<0.001*
Julian day	3.70	<0.001*
Exploration	2.45	<0.001*
Centrality	2.25	<0.001*
Trap diversity	2.62	<0.001*
Trappability	2.67	<0.001*
n = 256 id = 61		

n = 256, id = 61

Table S2.4 Proportion of variance explained by host identity (ID) on the gut microbiota composition of a chipmunk population of Mounts Sutton in Québec, Canada, over two active seasons (2021-2022).

_	Variable	R^{2}_{adj}	p-value	
_	ID	0.028	0.029*	
_	n = 52, id = 28			
	5.5		, •	
		°		•
>	5.0		S.	
sit			P.	1
je je	4.5			- T
di		a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a		
5	4.0		* e ^p	
Ĕ			• *	
ิส	3 5	٠	٠	
ঠ				
	3.0			*
	0.0			٠
		For		Mala
		Fer		iviale
		n _o =	- 165	n _o = 92
		n _i =	= 39	n _i = 23

Figure S2.1 Mean Shannon diversity index for every sample according to sex. The male outlier individual's samples are highlighted in red.



Figure S2.2 Abundance of *Bacteroidetes* and *Firmicutes* according to year. Mean Bacteroidetes abundance is higher in 2021 (p < 0.001) and mean Firmicutes abundance is higher in 2022 (p < 0.001).



Figure S2.3 Proportion of variation in gut bacterial communities explained centrality, exploration speed, trappability and trap diversity) in a natural population of *T. striatus* of Mounts Sutton, Quebec, Canada, in 2022.



Figure S2.4 Inter-year individuality of the gut microbiota composition of eastern chipmunks (n = 28) of Mounts Sutton, Quebec, Canada. Two seemingly stable individuals, Q031 (blue) and N052 (red), and two other individuals that appeared to be variable in their composition between years, R085 (orange) and Q090 (green), were highlighted to do a comparative investigation between the composition, ASV richness, Shannon index and phylum relative abundance through time.



Figure S2.5 Inter-year variation (2021-2022) of the gut microbiota ASV richness and Shannon diversity index of eastern chipmunks (n = 28) of Mounts Sutton, Quebec, Canada. Four individuals were selected to do a comparative investigation between the composition, ASV richness, Shannon index and phylum relative abundance through time: Q031 (blue), N052 (red), R085 (orange) and Q090 (green).



Figure S2.6 Inter-year variation (2021-2022) in bacterial phylum relative abundance of the gut microbiota of eastern chipmunks of Mounts Sutton, Quebec, Canada. Four individuals were selected to do a comparative investigation between the composition, ASV richness, Shannon index and phylum relative abundance through time: Q031, N052, R085 and Q090.

CHAPTER 3 CONCLUSION

Given the pivotal role that gut microbes play in shaping host physiology, cognition, and behaviour, it is increasingly clear that these microbial communities must be factored into ecological and evolutionary investigations. Yet, studies on wild animal microbiotas remain scarce compared to those on captive model species, leaving a gap in our understanding of how these communities function in natural environments. This thesis addressed this gap by examining the temporal dynamics of gut microbes in a wild chipmunk population and exploring the links between microbiota and host characteristics, with a particular focus on behaviour. To my knowledge, this is the first study to both partition the variance in gut microbe communities across multiple ecological levels and integrate animal personality theory into microbiome research. In this chapter, I revisit the key findings of my project, discuss their contributions to the field of research, address the limitations, and propose potential avenues for future studies.

3.1 Ecological implications and contributions

For the first objective, I explored the relationships between gut microbiota α -diversity (measured by the Shannon diversity index and ASV richness) and composition, and various host characteristics, including four behavioural traits. The findings confirmed that measurable behavioural traits are linked to gut microbiota composition, even in the wild, with minimal intervention to the animals' natural state. Specifically, chipmunks with a high exploration speed and those spending more time in the central area of the open-field exhibited different bacterial compositions compared to individuals that were trapped more frequently and visited a broader range of traps throughout the year. The divergence of microbial communities associated with behaviours measured in the open-field compared to those inferred from trapping data suggests that the former may reflect an individual's physiological state, while the latter may be more likely to reflect microbial transmission from environmental sources. These findings not only reveal new dimensions of how behavioural traits covary with gut microbiota but also suggest potential pathways through which gut microbes may influence or be influenced by host behaviour. I believe that the behavioural component is one of the strongest aspects of my research project, as there are still very few studies that have incorporated animal personality into microbiome research.

Age emerged as a significant predictor of both α -diversity measures, with juvenile chipmunks hosting less diverse microbial communities compared to adults. While these results align with expectations, gathering data on a larger spectrum of wild hosts is essential to draw generalized conclusions on host-microbiota

relationships. Additionally, the confirmation of these anticipated relationships validated the sampling methodology and confirmed that the age categories used in the long-term chipmunk study in southern Québec are appropriate for microbiome research.

Interestingly, sampling site, which was initially treated as a control variable, turned out to be a significant predictor of microbiota composition. This result broadened the environmental scope of the study, emphasizing the critical role of microhabitat in shaping gut microbiota. Since there is no significant genetic sub-structuring among chipmunks at different sites (Chambers & Garant, 2010), these differences in gut bacterial composition are likely driven by variations in resources and habitat structure. Future studies would benefit from integrating more detailed environmental data on the sampling sites, such as the abundance of tree and herbaceous species, the quantity of decaying wood, or soil humidity, to further elucidate the mechanisms of microbial transmission and their ecological significance.

For the second objective, I focused on the stability of the gut microbiota, or its variation within individuals throughout a trapping season. While Shannon diversity remained stable over time, chipmunks' gut microbiota exhibited different dynamics of ASV richness. Additionally, the composition of bacterial communities showed minimal variation at the within-individual level. Ecological theory posits that community stability is crucial for ecosystem health and productivity. When applied to microbiome research, a stable gut microbiota is deemed vital for host health, as it enables microbes to consistently perform their functions over time (Lozupone et al., 2012; Coyte et al., 2015). This study stands out as one of the few that investigate gut microbiota stability from an ecological perspective, taking multiple samples from the same individuals across different time points in their natural environment.

In the third and final objective, I investigated individuality, or among-individual differences, in the context of gut microbiota in wild chipmunks. Given the high variability typically observed among individuals' microbiomes, these differences have the potential to drive selection on host traits that are influenced by microbial communities (Moeller & Sanders, 2020). I was interested on the effect of individual identity on the microbiota both over a short timescale (one active season) and across a two-year period. My findings revealed that while gut microbiota α -diversity and composition were individualized over the short term, individual signature barely persisted when analyzed over a longer period. This aligns with the results of Risely et al. (2022), who found that host identity explained a large proportion of gut microbiota composition within a span of less than two months, but that the year of sampling became the dominant predictor over extended periods. Moreover, these results allow for speculation on the direction of causality between gut microbiota and behaviour within this population. Since behavioural differences in this population are known to be consistent over time and that the microbiota composition does not persist from year to year, it is unlikely that gut microbes are driving interindividual behavioural differences in this population. Finally, I

think that applying repeatability analyses, a well-established technique in ecology, to microbial data holds great potential for bridging microbiome research with evolutionary ecology.

3.2 Limitations

One of the primary limitations of this research project is its observational nature, making it challenging to determine the direction of causality. While correlations between gut microbiota and host traits provide valuable insights, future experimental studies or the application of advanced statistical models are needed to untangle the directionality of these relationships. Feedback mechanisms could also blur the impact of confounding variables or introduce time lags in the relationships between variables (Davidson et al., 2020). Additionally, the potential influence of unmeasured environmental or genetic factors cannot be entirely ruled out, further complicating causal interpretations. Structural equation modeling might offer insights into the direction of causality and help differentiate between direct and indirect effects, though it requires assumptions and priors that were not available for this study (Laughlin & Grace, 2019). Nonetheless, the descriptive data provided here lays a crucial foundation for future research aimed at testing the direction of these effects.

Another significant limitation of this study was the sampling methodology employed in 2021, which served as a pilot year for incorporating gut microbiome sampling into the Chipmunk Project. During this initial year, we collected one sample per individual in the spring and a second one in the fall. Unfortunately, many chipmunks captured in the spring were not recaptured later in the year, resulting in a single sample for most individuals. Only 14 chipmunks were sampled twice in 2021 and recaptured in 2022, complicating comparisons of microbial communities between the two years. As a result, the lack of repeated sampling in 2021 hindered our ability to assess inter-year stability and necessitated adjustments in our statistical methods for analyzing individuality, which made comparing intra- and inter-year results more challenging. Additionally, the two years offered contrasting ecological conditions, with one being a mast year and the other a non-mast year. More consistent sampling across both years would have allowed for a more robust comparison of how pulsed resources dynamics affect wild animal's gut microbiota.

I also attempted to incorporate a genetic component into this project, as it could have significantly enhanced our understanding of gut microbiota variation in the wild. By estimating heritability and assessing the extent of maternal microbial transmission, I hoped to unravel the genetic influences on microbial communities. However, despite the pedigree assessments that are integral to the Chipmunk Project, not enough mothers could be assigned to our sampled individuals to perform these types of analyses effectively.

3.3 Perspectives

Research on wild microbiomes has implication for understanding host health, population dynamics, community ecology, evolutionary theory and many other fields. This study highlights the complex relationships between host traits, environmental factors, and gut microbiota composition and α -diversity in wild eastern chipmunks. By detailing the structure of microbial communities across various ecological and temporal scales, it provides additional foundations for understanding microbiota dynamics in natural populations. This work also raises various questions and opens up several promising avenues for future research.

Investigations into microbiota-behaviour relationships in the wild would greatly benefit from integrating physiological data, such as fecal glucocorticoid concentrations, to measure stress responses. Glucocorticoids, key messengers of the HPA axis, have been linked to gut microbiota variation in wild red squirrels (*Tamiasciurus hudsonicus*; Petrullo et al., 2022). The next step in bridging the gap between gut microbiota and behaviour in natural conditions, as well as understanding the broader ecological relevance of the microbiota-gut-brain axis, would be to incorporate all these measures into a single, cohesive study.

In further research, one should consider extending the temporal scope to multiple years when working on pulsed resource systems in order to encompass several periods with analogous ecological parameters. The conditions of these ecological systems provide unique opportunities to study the stability and resilience of gut microbial communities. By tracking these systems across multiple mast and non-mast years, researchers could gain deeper insights into how fluctuations in resource availability influence microbiota composition. Moreover, such long-term studies could reveal patterns of microbiome recovery or adaptation following environmental disturbances, providing a clearer understanding of the role that gut microbiota play in host fitness in dynamic environments.

Given the intricate relationships between the hosts and their microbiota, further research in wild populations is essential to uncover the mechanisms that influence individuality and stability of gut microbe communities, as well as the links between microbiota and host behaviour. Such studies will contribute to a more comprehensive understanding of the gut microbiota's role in natural ecosystems, shedding light on how these communities both influence and are influenced by their host and the environment.

REFERENCES

Alberdi, A., Aizpurua, O., Bohmann, K., Zepeda-Mendoza, M. L., & Gilbert, M. T. P. (2016). Do Vertebrate Gut Metagenomes Confer Rapid Ecological Adaptation? *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, *31*(9), 689–699. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TREE.2016.06.008

Aliperti, J. R., Davis, B. E., Fangue, N. A., Todgham, A. E., & van Vuren, D. H. (2021). Bridging animal personality with space use and resource use in a free-ranging population of an asocial ground squirrel. *Animal Behaviour*, *180*, 291–306. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ANBEHAV.2021.07.019

Amato, K. R. (2013). Co-evolution in context: The importance of studying gut microbiomes in wild animals. *Microbiome Science and Medicine*, *1*(1). https://doi.org/10.2478/MICSM-2013-0002

Amato, K. R. (2016). Incorporating the gut microbiota into models of human and non-human primate ecology and evolution. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology*, *159*(Suppl 61), S196–S215. https://doi.org/10.1002/AJPA.22908

Amato, K. R., Martinez-Mota, R., Righini, N., Raguet-Schofield, M., Corcione, F. P., Marini, E., Humphrey, G., Gogul, G., Gaffney, J., Lovelace, E., Williams, L. S., Luong, A., Dominguez-Bello, M. G., Stumpf, R. M., White, B., Nelson, K. E., Knight, R., & Leigh, S. R. (2016). Phylogenetic and ecological factors impact the gut microbiota of two Neotropical primate species. *Oecologia*, *180*(3), 717–733. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00442-015-3507-Z

Amato, K. R., van Belle, S., di Fiore, A., Estrada, A., Stumpf, R., White, B., Nelson, K. E., Knight, R., & Leigh, S. R. (2017). Patterns in Gut Microbiota Similarity Associated with Degree of Sociality among Sex Classes of a Neotropical Primate. *Microbial Ecology*, *74*(1), 250–258. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00248-017-0938-6

Archie, E. A., & Tung, J. (2015). Social behaviour and the microbiome. *Current Opinion in Behavioural Sciences*, *6*, 28–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.COBEHA.2015.07.008

Bäckhed, F., Ding, H., Wang, T., Hooper, L. v., Gou, Y. K., Nagy, A., Semenkovich, C. F., & Gordon, J. I. (2004). The gut microbiota as an environmental factor that regulates fat storage. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *101*(44), 15718–15723. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.0407076101/SUPPL FILE/07076TABLE4.PDF

Bäckhed, F., Roswall, J., Peng, Y., Feng, Q., Jia, H., Kovatcheva-Datchary, P., Li, Y., Xia, Y., Xie, H., Zhong, H., Khan, M. T., Zhang, J., Li, J., Xiao, L., Al-Aama, J., Zhang, D., Lee, Y. S., Kotowska, D., Colding, C., ... Jun, W. (2015). Dynamics and Stabilization of the Human Gut Microbiome during the First Year of Life. *Cell Host & Microbe*, *17*(5), 690–703. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CHOM.2015.04.004

Baniel, A., Amato, K. R., Beehner, J. C., Bergman, T. J., Mercer, A., Perlman, R. F., Petrullo, L., Reitsema, L., Sams, S., Lu, A., & Snyder-Mackler, N. (2021). Seasonal shifts in the gut microbiome indicate plastic responses to diet in wild geladas. *Microbiome 2021 9:1, 9*(1), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1186/S40168-020-00977-9

Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B. M., & Walker, S. C. (2015). Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models Using lme4. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 67(1), 1–48. https://doi.org/10.18637/JSS.V067.I01

Belzung, C. (1999). Measuring rodent exploratory behaviour. In W.E. Crusio & R.T. Gerlai (Eds.), *Techniques in the Behavioural and Neural Sciences* (Vol. 13, Issue C, pp. 738–749). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0921-0709(99)80057-1 Benson, A. K., Kelly, S. A., Legge, R., Ma, F., Low, S. J., Kim, J., Zhang, M., Oh, P. L., Nehrenberg, D., Hua, K., Kachman, S. D., Moriyama, E. N., Walter, J., Peterson, D. A., & Pomp, D. (2010). Individuality in gut microbiota composition is a complex polygenic trait shaped by multiple environmental and host genetic factors. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *107*(44), 18933–18938. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1007028107

Bercik, P., Denou, E., Collins, J., Jackson, W., Lu, J., Jury, J., Deng, Y., Blennerhassett, P., MacRi, J., McCoy, K. D., Verdu, E. F., & Collins, S. M. (2011). The intestinal microbiota affect central levels of brain-derived neurotropic factor and behaviour in mice. *Gastroenterology*, *141*(2). https://doi.org/10.1053/J.GASTRO.2011.04.052

Berg, G., Rybakova, D., Fischer, D., Cernava, T., Vergès, M. C. C., Charles, T., Chen, X., Cocolin, L., Eversole, K., Corral, G. H., Kazou, M., Kinkel, L., Lange, L., Lima, N., Loy, A., Macklin, J. A., Maguin, E., Mauchline, T., McClure, R., ... Schloter, M. (2020). Microbiome definition re-visited: old concepts and new challenges. *Microbiome*, 8(1), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1186/S40168-020-00875-0/FIGURES/7

Bergeron, P., Réale, D., Humphries, M. M., & Garant, D. (2011*a*). Anticipation and tracking of pulsed resources drive population dynamics in eastern chipmunks. *Ecology*, *92*(11), 2027–2034. https://doi.org/10.1890/11-0766.1

Bergeron, P., Réale, D., Humphries, M. M., & Garant, D. (2011*b*). Evidence of multiple paternity and mate selection for inbreeding avoidance in wild eastern chipmunks. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, 24(8), 1685–1694. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1420-9101.2011.02294.X

Bletz, M. C., Goedbloed, D. J., Sanchez, E., Reinhardt, T., Tebbe, C. C., Bhuju, S., Geffers, R., Jarek, M., Vences, M., & Steinfartz, S. (2016). Amphibian gut microbiota shifts differentially in community structure but converges on habitat-specific predicted functions. *Nature Communications 2016* 7:1, 7(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms13699

Bolnick, D. I., Snowberg, L. K., Hirsch, P. E., Lauber, C. L., Org, E., Parks, B., Lusis, A. J., Knight, R., Caporaso, J. G., & Svanbäck, R. (2014). Individual diet has sex-dependent effects on vertebrate gut microbiota. *Nature Communications 2014 5:1*, *5*(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms5500

Bolnick, D. I., Svanbäck, R., Fordyce, J. A., Yang, L. H., Davis, J. M., Hulsey, C. D., & Forister, M. L. (2003). The Ecology of Individuals: Incidence and Implications of Individual Specialization. *The American Naturalist*, *161*(1), 1–28. https://doi.org/10.1086/343878

Boon, A. K., Réale, D., & Boutin, S. (2008). Personality, habitat use, and their consequences for survival in North American red squirrels Tamiasciurus hudsonicus. *Oikos*, *117*(9), 1321–1328. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.0030-1299.2008.16567.X

Boyer, N., Réale, D., Marmet, J., Pisanu, B., & Chapuis, J. L. (2010). Personality, space use and tick load in an introduced population of Siberian chipmunks Tamias sibiricus. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, *79*(3), 538–547. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-2656.2010.01659.X

Bravo, J. A., Forsythe, P., Chew, M. v., Escaravage, E., Savignac, H. M., Dinan, T. G., Bienenstock, J., & Cryan, J. F. (2011). Ingestion of Lactobacillus strain regulates emotional behaviour and central GABA receptor expression in a mouse via the vagus nerve. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *108*(38), 16050–16055. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1102999108/SUPPL FILE/PNAS.201102999SI.PDF

Callahan, B. J., McMurdie, P. J., Rosen, M. J., Han, A. W., Johnson, A. J. A., & Holmes, S. P. (2016). DADA2: High-resolution sample inference from Illumina amplicon data. *Nature Methods 2016 13:7*, *13*(7), 581–583. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.3869

Carabotti, M., Scirocco, A., Maselli, M. A., & Severi, C. (2015). The gut-brain axis: interactions between enteric microbiota, central and enteric nervous systems. *Annals of Gastroenterology : Quarterly Publication of the Hellenic Society of Gastroenterology*, 28(2), 203. /pmc/articles/PMC4367209/

Carter, A. J., Feeney, W. E., Marshall, H. H., Cowlishaw, G., & Heinsohn, R. (2013). Animal personality: what are behavioural ecologists measuring? *Biological Reviews*, 88(2), 465–475. https://doi.org/10.1111/BRV.12007

Chambers, J. L., & Garant, D. (2010). Determinants of Population Genetic Structure in Eastern Chipmunks (Tamias striatus): The Role of Landscape Barriers and Sex-Biased Dispersal. *Journal of Heredity*, 101(4), 413–422. https://doi.org/10.1093/JHERED/ESQ029

Chandler, J. A., Lang, J., Bhatnagar, S., Eisen, J. A., & Kopp, A. (2011). Bacterial Communities of Diverse Drosophila Species: Ecological Context of a Host–Microbe Model System. *PLOS Genetics*, 7(9), e1002272. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PGEN.1002272

Clark, A. B., & Ehlinger, T. J. (1987). Pattern and Adaptation in Individual Behavioral Differences. *Perspectives in Ethology*, 1–47. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4613-1815-6 1

Clarke, G., Grenham, S., Scully, P., Fitzgerald, P., Moloney, R. D., Shanahan, F., Dinan, T. G., & Cryan, J. F. (2012). The microbiome-gut-brain axis during early life regulates the hippocampal serotonergic system in a sex-dependent manner. *Molecular Psychiatry 2013 18:6*, *18*(6), 666–673. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2012.77

Collins, S. M., Kassam, Z., & Bercik, P. (2013). The adoptive transfer of behavioral phenotype via the intestinal microbiota: experimental evidence and clinical implications. *Current Opinion in Microbiology*, *16*(3), 240–245. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MIB.2013.06.004

Corl, A., Charter, M., Rozman, G., Toledo, S., Turjeman, S., Kamath, P. L., Getz, W. M., Nathan, R., & Bowie, R. C. K. (2020). Movement ecology and sex are linked to barn owl microbial community composition. *Molecular Ecology*, *29*(7), 1358–1371. https://doi.org/10.1111/MEC.15398

Costello, E. K., Stagaman, K., Dethlefsen, L., Bohannan, B. J. M., & Relman, D. A. (2012). The Application of Ecological Theory Toward an Understanding of the Human Microbiome. *Science*, *336*(6086), 1255–1262. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.1224203

Couch, C. E., & Epps, C. W. (2022). Host, Microbiome, and Complex Space: Applying Population and Landscape Genetic Approaches to Gut Microbiome Research in Wild Populations. *Journal of Heredity*, *113*(3), 221–234. https://doi.org/10.1093/JHERED/ESAB078

Couchoux, C., Garant, D., Aubert, M., Clermont, J., & Reale, D. (2021). Behavioural variation in natural contests: integrating plasticity and personality. *Behavioural Ecology*, *32*(2), 277–285. https://doi.org/10.1093/BEHECO/ARAA127

Coyte, K. Z., Schluter, J., & Foster, K. R. (2015). The ecology of the microbiome: Networks, competition, and stability. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 350(6261), 663–666. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.AAD2602

Cryan, J. F., & Dinan, T. G. (2012). Mind-altering microorganisms: the impact of the gut microbiota on brain and behaviour. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience 2012 13:10, 13*(10), 701–712. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn3346

Cryan, J. F., & O'Mahony, S. M. (2011). The microbiome-gut-brain axis: from bowel to behavior. *Neurogastroenterology and Motility : The Official Journal of the European Gastrointestinal Motility Society*, *23*(3), 187–192. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-2982.2010.01664.X

Cusick, J. A., Wellman, C. L., & Demas, G. E. (2021). The call of the wild: Using non-model systems to investigate microbiome–behaviour relationships. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 224(10). https://doi.org/10.1242/JEB.224485/263930

Dall, S. R. X., Bell, A. M., Bolnick, D. I., & Ratnieks, F. L. W. (2012). An evolutionary ecology of individual differences. *Ecology Letters*, *15*(10), 1198. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1461-0248.2012.01846.X

David, L. A., Maurice, C. F., Carmody, R. N., Gootenberg, D. B., Button, J. E., Wolfe, B. E., Ling, A. v., Devlin, A. S., Varma, Y., Fischbach, M. A., Biddinger, S. B., Dutton, R. J., & Turnbaugh, P. J. (2014). Diet rapidly and reproducibly alters the human gut microbiome. *Nature*, *505*(7484), 559–563. https://doi.org/10.1038/NATURE12820

Davidson, G. L., Cooke, A. C., Johnson, C. N., & Quinn, J. L. (2018). The gut microbiome as a driver of individual variation in cognition and functional behaviour. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, *373*(1756). https://doi.org/10.1098/RSTB.2017.0286

Davidson, G. L., Raulo, A., & Knowles, S. C. L. (2020). Identifying Microbiome-Mediated Behaviour in Wild Vertebrates. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, *35*(11), 972–980. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TREE.2020.06.014

Degnan, P. H., Pusey, A. E., Lonsdorf, E. v., Goodall, J., Wroblewski, E. E., Wilson, M. L., Rudicell, R. S., Hahn, B. H., & Ochman, H. (2012). Factors associated with the diversification of the gut microbial communities within chimpanzees from Gombe National Park. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *109*(32), 13034–13039. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1110994109

Dion-Phénix, H., Charmantier, A., de Franceschi, C., Bourret, G., Kembel, S. W., & Réale, D. (2021). Bacterial microbiota similarity between predators and prey in a blue tit trophic network. *The ISME Journal 2021 15:4*, *15*(4), 1098–1107. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41396-020-00836-3

Donaldson, G. P., Lee, S. M., & Mazmanian, S. K. (2016). Gut biogeography of the bacterial microbiota. *Nature Reviews. Microbiology*, *14*(1), 20–32. https://doi.org/10.1038/NRMICRO3552

Dubuc-Messier, G., Garant, D., Bergeron, P., & Réale, D. (2012). Environmental conditions affect spatial genetic structures and dispersal patterns in a solitary rodent. *Molecular Ecology*, *21*(21), 5363–5373. https://doi.org/10.1111/MEC.12022

Ecklu-Mensah, G., Gilbert, J., & Devkota, S. (2022). Dietary Selection Pressures and Their Impact on the Gut Microbiome. *Cellular and Molecular Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, *13*(1), 7–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCMGH.2021.07.009

Elliott, L. (1978). Social behaviour and foraging ecology of the eastern chipmunk (Tamias striatus) in the Adirondack Mountains. *Smithsonian Contributions to Zoology*, *265*, 1–107. https://doi.org/10.5479/SI.00810282.265

Erixon, F., Krämer, M., Eccard, J., Gilmour, M., Dammhahn, M. (2024). A timid choice: risk-taking behaviour predicts individualized niche in a varying landscape of safety [Manuscript in preparation], Institute of Biology and Biochemistry, University of Potsdam.

Faith, J. J., Guruge, J. L., Charbonneau, M., Subramanian, S., Seedorf, H., Goodman, A. L., Clemente, J. C., Knight, R., Heath, A. C., Leibel, R. L., Rosenbaum, M., & Gordon, J. I. (2013). The long-term stability of the human gut microbiota. *Science*, *341*(6141).

https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.1237439/SUPPL_FILE/FAITH.SM.REVISED-2.PDF

Flint, H. J., & Bayer, E. A. (2008). Plant Cell Wall Breakdown by Anaerobic Microorganisms from the Mammalian Digestive Tract. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1125*(1), 280–288. https://doi.org/10.1196/ANNALS.1419.022

Florkowski, M. R., & Yorzinski, J. L. (2023). Gut microbiome diversity and composition is associated with exploratory behaviour in a wild-caught songbird. *Animal Microbiome*, 5(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/S42523-023-00227-X/FIGURES/3

Foster, J. A., & McVey Neufeld, K. A. (2013). Gut-brain axis: how the microbiome influences anxiety and depression. *Trends in Neurosciences*, *36*(5), 305–312. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TINS.2013.01.005

Gaudreau-Rousseau, C., Bergeron, P., Réale, D., & Garant, D. (2023). Environmental and individual determinants of burrow-site microhabitat selection, occupancy, and fidelity in eastern chipmunks living in a pulsed-resource ecosystem. *PeerJ*, *11*. https://doi.org/10.7717/PEERJ.15110

Gharnit, E., Bergeron, P., Garant, D., & Reále, D. (2020). Exploration profiles drive activity patterns and temporal niche specialization in a wild rodent. *Behavioural Ecology*, *31*(3), 772–783. https://doi.org/10.1093/BEHECO/ARAA022

Gharnit, E., Dammhahn, M., Garant, D., & Réale, D. (2022). Resource availability, sex, and individual differences in exploration drive individual diet specialization. *The American Naturalist*, 200. https://doi.org/10.1086/719669

Gilbert, S. F., Sapp, J., & Tauber, A. I. (2012). A symbiotic view of life: we have never been individuals. *The Quarterly Review of Biology*, 87(4), 325–341. https://doi.org/10.1086/668166

Goertz, S., de Menezes, A. B., Birtles, R. J., Fenn, J., Lowe, A. E., MacColl, A. D. C., Poulin, B., Young, S., Bradley, J. E., & Taylor, C. H. (2019). Geographical location influences the composition of the gut microbiota in wild house mice (Mus musculus domesticus) at a fine spatial scale. *PLOS ONE*, *14*(9), e0222501. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0222501

Goodrich, J. K., Waters, J. L., Poole, A. C., Sutter, J. L., Koren, O., Blekhman, R., Beaumont, M., van Treuren, W., Knight, R., Bell, J. T., Spector, T. D., Clark, A. G., & Ley, R. E. (2014). Human genetics shape the gut microbiome. *Cell*, *159*(4), 789–799. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2014.09.053

Goodrich, J. K., Davenport, E. R., Beaumont, M., Jackson, M. A., Knight, R., Ober, C., Spector, T. D., Bell, J. T., Clark, A. G., & Ley, R. E. (2016). Genetic Determinants of the Gut Microbiome in UK Twins. *Cell Host & Microbe*, *19*(5), 731–743. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CHOM.2016.04.017

Gould, T. D., Dao, D. T., & Kovacsics, C. E. (2009). The open field test. In *Neuromethods* (Vol. 42, pp. 1–20). Humana Press. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-60761-303-9 1

Greene, L. K., Williams, C. v., Junge, R. E., Mahefarisoa, K. L., Rajaonarivelo, T., Rakotondrainibe, H., O'Connell, T. M., & Drea, C. M. (2020). A role for gut microbiota in host niche differentiation. *The ISME Journal*, *14*(7), 1675–1687. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41396-020-0640-4

Grond, K., Bell, K. C., Demboski, J. R., Santos, M., Sullivan, J. M., & Hird, S. M. (2020). No evidence for phylosymbiosis in western chipmunk species. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, *96*(1). https://doi.org/10.1093/FEMSEC/FIZ182

Hau, M., & Goymann, W. (2015). Endocrine mechanisms, behavioural phenotypes and plasticity: Known relationships and open questions. *Frontiers in Zoology*, *12*(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-9994-12-S1-S7

He, X., Chaganti, S. R., & Heath, D. D. (2018). Population-Specific Responses to Interspecific Competition in the Gut Microbiota of Two Atlantic Salmon (Salmo salar) Populations. *Microbial Ecology*, 75(1), 140–151. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00248-017-1035-6

Heijtz, R. D., Wang, S., Anuar, F., Qian, Y., Björkholm, B., Samuelsson, A., Hibberd, M. L., Forssberg, H., & Pettersson, S. (2011). Normal gut microbiota modulates brain development and behaviour. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *108*(7), 3047–3052. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1010529108

Herath, A. P. H. M., Wat, K. K. Y., Banks, P. B., & McArthur, C. (2021). Animal personality drives individual dietary specialisation across multiple dimensions in a mammalian herbivore. *Functional Ecology*, *35*(10), 2253–2265. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.13893

Hird, S. M. (2017). Evolutionary biology needs wild microbiomes. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 8(APR), 725. https://doi.org/10.3389/FMICB.2017.00725

Hooper, L. v., & Gordon, J. I. (2001). Commensal host-bacterial relationships in the gut. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 292(5519), 1115–1118. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.1058709

Hird, S. M., Sánchez, C., Carstens, B. C., & Brumfield, R. T. (2015). Comparative gut microbiota of 59 neotropical bird species. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *6*(DEC), 1403. https://doi.org/10.3389/FMICB.2015.01403/BIBTEX

Humphries, M. M., Thomas, D. W., Hall, C. L., Speakman, J. R., & Kramer, D. L. (2002). The energetics of autumn mast hoarding in eastern chipmunks. *Oecologia*, *133*(1), 30–37. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00442-002-1014-5

Jameson, J. W., Kembel, S. W., & Réale, D. (2020a). Links between mouse and vole social networks and their gut microbiomes support predictions from metacommunity theory. *BioRxiv*, 2020.08.18.256370. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.08.18.256370

Jameson, J. W., Réale, D., & Kembel, S. W. (2020b). Gut microbiome modulates behaviour and life history in two wild rodents. *BioRxiv*, 2020.02.09.940981. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.02.09.940981

Johnson, K. V. A. (2020). Gut microbiome composition and diversity are related to human personality traits. *Human Microbiome Journal*, *15*, 100069. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.HUMIC.2019.100069

Johnson, K. V. A., & Burnet, P. W. J. (2016). Microbiome: Should we diversify from diversity? *Gut Microbes*, 7(6), 455–458. https://doi.org/10.1080/19490976.2016.1241933

Kartzinel, T. R., Hsing, J. C., Musili, P. M., Brown, B. R. P., & Pringle, R. M. (2019). Covariation of diet and gut microbiome in African megafauna. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *116*(47), 23588–23593. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1905666116/

Kasarello, K., Cudnoch-Jedrzejewska, A., & Czarzasta, K. (2023). Communication of gut microbiota and brain via immune and neuroendocrine signaling. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *14*, 1118529. https://doi.org/10.3389/FMICB.2023.1118529

Kelly, D., Campbell, J. I., King, T. P., Grant, G., Jansson, E. A., Coutts, A. G. P., Pettersson, S., & Conway, S. (2004). Commensal anaerobic gut bacteria attenuate inflammation by regulating nuclearcytoplasmic shuttling of PPAR-gamma and RelA. *Nature Immunology*, *5*(1), 104–112. https://doi.org/10.1038/NI1018

Kemis, J. H., Linke, V., Barrett, K. L., Boehm, F. J., Traeger, L. L., Keller, M. P., Rabaglia, M. E., Schueler, K. L., Stapleton, D. S., Gatti, D. M., Churchill, G. A., Amador-Noguez, D., Russel, J. D., Yandell, B. S., Broman, K. W., Coon, J. J., Attie, A. D., & Rey, F. E. (2019). Genetic determinants of gut microbiota composition and bile acid profiles in mice. *PLoS Genetics*, *15*(8). https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PGEN.1008073

Kim, Y. S., Unno, T., Kim, B. Y., & Park, M. S. (2020). Sex Differences in Gut Microbiota. *The World Journal of Men's Health*, *38*(1), 48–60. https://doi.org/10.5534/WJMH.190009

Koenig, J. E., Spor, A., Scalfone, N., Fricker, A. D., Stombaugh, J., Knight, R., Angenent, L. T., & Ley, R. E. (2011). Succession of microbial consortia in the developing infant gut microbiome. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *108*(SUPPL. 1), 4578–4585. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1000081107

Kohl, K. D., Brun, A., Caviedes-Vidal, E., & Karasov, W. H. (2019). Age-related changes in the gut microbiota of wild House Sparrow nestlings. *Ibis*, *161*(1), 184–191. https://doi.org/10.1111/IBI.12618

Koskella, B., Hall, L. J., & Metcalf, C. J. E. (2017). The microbiome beyond the horizon of ecological and evolutionary theory. *Nature Ecology & Evolution*, *1*(11), 1606–1615. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41559-017-0340-2

Kraeuter, A. K., Guest, P. C., & Sarnyai, Z. (2019). The Open Field Test for Measuring Locomotor Activity and Anxiety-Like Behaviour. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, *1916*, 99–103. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-8994-2 9/COVER

Kreisinger, J., Kropáčková, L., Petrželková, A., Adámková, M., Tomášek, O., Martin, J. F., Michálková, R., & Albrecht, T. (2017). Temporal stability and the effect of transgenerational transfer on fecal microbiota structure in a long distance migratory bird. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 8(FEB), 216063. https://doi.org/10.3389/FMICB.2017.00050/BIBTEX

Laughlin, D. C., & Grace, J. B. (2019). Discoveries and novel insights in ecology using structural equation modeling. *Ideas in Ecology and Evolution*, *12*(0), 28–34. https://doi.org/10.24908/iee.2019.12.5.c

LeBlanc, J. G., Chain, F., Martín, R., Bermúdez-Humarán, L. G., Courau, S., & Langella, P. (2017). Beneficial effects on host energy metabolism of short-chain fatty acids and vitamins produced by commensal and probiotic bacteria. *Microbial Cell Factories*, *16*(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/S12934-017-0691-Z

Leeming, E. R., Johnson, A. J., Spector, T. D., & Roy, C. I. L. (2019). Effect of Diet on the Gut Microbiota: Rethinking Intervention Duration. *Nutrients*, *11*(12). https://doi.org/10.3390/NU11122862

Legendre, P., & Legendre, L. (2012). Numerical Ecology (3rd Edition, Vol. 24). Elsevier.

Ley, R. E., Lozupone, C. A., Hamady, M., Knight, R., & Gordon, J. I. (2008). Worlds within worlds: evolution of the vertebrate gut microbiota. *Nature Reviews Microbiology 2008 6:10*, *6*(10), 776–788. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro1978

Ley, R. E., Peterson, D. A., & Gordon, J. I. (2006). Ecological and evolutionary forces shaping microbial diversity in the human intestine. *Cell*, *124*(4), 837–848. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2006.02.017

Li, H., Li, T., Beasley, D. A. E., Heděnec, P., Xiao, Z., Zhang, S., Li, J., Lin, Q., & Li, X. (2016). Diet diversity is associated with beta but not alpha diversity of pika gut microbiota. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 7(JUL), 204352. https://doi.org/10.3389/FMICB.2016.01169/BIBTEX

Liddicoat, C., Sydnor, H., Cando-Dumancela, C., Dresken, R., Liu, J., Gellie, N. J. C., Mills, J. G., Young, J. M., Weyrich, L. S., Hutchinson, M. R., Weinstein, P., & Breed, M. F. (2020). Naturally-diverse airborne environmental microbial exposures modulate the gut microbiome and may provide anxiolytic benefits in mice. *Science of The Total Environment*, 701, 134684. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2019.134684 Liévin-Le Moal, V., & Servin, A. L. (2006). The front line of enteric host defense against unwelcome intrusion of harmful microorganisms: Mucins, antimicrobial peptides, and Microbiota. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, *19*(2), 315–337. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.19.2.315-337.2006/ASSET/6A369E9E-1AB4-4559-B23D-FC9AEC4B0643/ASSETS/GRAPHIC/ZCM0020621680002.JPEG

Liu, H., Li, Y., Liang, J., Nong, D., Li, Y., & Huang, Z. (2023). Evaluation of Gut Microbiota Stability and Flexibility as a Response to Seasonal Variation in the Wild François' Langurs (Trachypithecus francoisi) in Limestone Forest. *Microbiology Spectrum*, *11*(4). https://doi.org/10.1128/spectrum.05091-22

Liukkonen, M., Muriel, J., Martínez-Padilla, J., Nord, A., Pakanen, V.-M., Rosivall, B., Tilgar, V., Oers, K. van, Grond, K., & Ruuskanen, S. (2023). Seasonal and environmental factors contribute to the variation in the gut microbiome: a large-scale study of a small bird. *BioRxiv*, 2023.12.12.571395. https://doi.org/10.1101/2023.12.12.571395

Lozupone, C. A., Stombaugh, J. I., Gordon, J. I., Jansson, J. K., & Knight, R. (2012). Diversity, stability and resilience of the human gut microbiota. *Nature*, *489*(7415), 220. https://doi.org/10.1038/NATURE11550

Macke, E., Tasiemski, A., Massol, F., Callens, M., & Decaestecker, E. (2017). Life history and ecoevolutionary dynamics in light of the gut microbiota. *Oikos*, *126*(4), 508–531. https://doi.org/10.1111/OIK.03900

Magurran, A. E. (1993). Individual differences and alternative behaviours. In *Behaviour of teleost fishes* (2nd ed., pp. 441–447).

K. (2022). Individualized composition or community dynamics? A new statistical approach to assess the individuality of host-associated microbiomes. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, *289*(1986). https://doi.org/10.1098/RSPB.2022.1794

Mallott, E. K., & Amato, K. R. (2021). Host specificity of the gut microbiome. *Nature Reviews*. *Microbiology*, *19*(10), 639–653. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41579-021-00562-3

Margolis, K. G., Cryan, J. F., & Mayer, E. A. (2021). The Microbiota-Gut-Brain Axis: From Motility to Mood. *Gastroenterology*, *160*(5), 1486. https://doi.org/10.1053/J.GASTRO.2020.10.066

Markle, J. G. M., Frank, D. N., Mortin-Toth, S., Robertson, C. E., Feazel, L. M., Rolle-Kampczyk, U., von Bergen, M., McCoy, K. D., Macpherson, A. J., & Danska, J. S. (2013). Sex differences in the gut microbiome drive hormone-dependent regulation of autoimmunity. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 339(6123), 1084–1088. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.1233521

Marsh, K. J., Raulo, A. M., Brouard, M., Troitsky, T., English, H. M., Allen, B., Raval, R., Venkatesan, S., Pedersen, A. B., Webster, J. P., & Knowles, S. C. L. (2022). Synchronous Seasonality in the Gut Microbiota of Wild Mouse Populations. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *13*, 809735. https://doi.org/10.3389/FMICB.2022.809735

Martin, C. R., Osadchiy, V., Kalani, A., & Mayer, E. A. (2018). The Brain-Gut-Microbiome Axis. *Cellular and Molecular Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, *6*(2), 133. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCMGH.2018.04.003

Maurice, C. F., Cl Knowles, S., Ladau, J., Pollard, K. S., Fenton, A., Pedersen, A. B., & Turnbaugh, P. J. (2015). Marked seasonal variation in the wild mouse gut microbiota. *The ISME Journal*, 9(11), 2423–2434. https://doi.org/10.1038/ISMEJ.2015.53

McFall-Ngai, M., Hadfield, M. G., Bosch, T. C. G., Carey, H. v., Domazet-Lošo, T., Douglas, A. E., Dubilier, N., Eberl, G., Fukami, T., Gilbert, S. F., Hentschel, U., King, N., Kjelleberg, S., Knoll, A. H.,

Kremer, N., Mazmanian, S. K., Metcalf, J. L., Nealson, K., Pierce, N. E., ... Wernegreen, J. J. (2013). Animals in a bacterial world, a new imperative for the life sciences. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *110*(9), 3229–3236. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1218525110

McKenzie, V. J., Song, S. J., Delsuc, F., Prest, T. L., Oliverio, A. M., Korpita, T. M., Alexiev, A., Amato, K. R., Metcalf, J. L., Kowalewski, M., Avenant, N. L., Link, A., di Fiore, A., Seguin-Orlando, A., Feh, C., Orlando, L., Mendelson, J. R., Sanders, J., & Knight, R. (2017). The Effects of Captivity on the Mammalian Gut Microbiome. *Integrative and Comparative Biology*, *57*(4), 690. https://doi.org/10.1093/ICB/ICX090

McMurdie, P. J., & Holmes, S. (2013). phyloseq: An R Package for Reproducible Interactive Analysis and Graphics of Microbiome Census Data. *PLOS ONE*, *8*(4), e61217. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0061217

Miller, E. T., Svanbäck, R., & Bohannan, B. J. M. (2018). Microbiomes as Metacommunities: Understanding Host-Associated Microbes through Metacommunity Ecology. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 33(12), 926–935. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2018.09.002

Moeller, A. H., & Sanders, J. G. (2020). Roles of the gut microbiota in the adaptive evolution of mammalian species. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B*, *375*(1808). https://doi.org/10.1098/RSTB.2019.0597

Moiron, M., Laskowski, K. L., & Niemelä, P. T. (2020). Individual differences in behaviour explain variation in survival: a meta-analysis. *Ecology Letters*, 23(2), 399–408. https://doi.org/10.1111/ELE.13438

Montiglio, P. O., Garant, D., Thomas, D., & Réale, D. (2010). Individual variation in temporal activity patterns in open-field tests. *Animal Behaviour*, *80*(5), 905–912. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ANBEHAV.2010.08.014

Montiglio, P.-O. (2009). Activité, exploration et leur relation avec l'utilisation de l'espace par les individus dans une population sauvage de tamias rayés (tamias striatus).

Montiglio, P.-O., Garant, D., Pelletier, F., & Réale, D. (2012). Personality differences are related to long-term stress reactivity in a population of wild eastern chipmunks, Tamias striatus. *Animal Behaviour*, *84*(4), 1071–1079. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2012.08.010

Moran, N. A., Ochman, H., & Hammer, T. J. (2019). Evolutionary and Ecological Consequences of Gut Microbial Communities. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*, *50*, 451–475. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV-ECOLSYS-110617-062453

Moran, N. A., & Sloan, D. B. (2015). The Hologenome Concept: Helpful or Hollow? *PLOS Biology*, *13*(12), e1002311. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PBIO.1002311

Muller, P. A., Koscsó, B., Rajani, G. M., Stevanovic, K., Berres, M. L., Hashimoto, D., Mortha, A., Leboeuf, M., Li, X. M., Mucida, D., Stanley, E. R., Dahan, S., Margolis, K. G., Gershon, M. D., Merad, M., & Bogunovic, M. (2014). Crosstalk between muscularis macrophages and enteric neurons regulates gastrointestinal motility. *Cell*, *158*(2), 300–313. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2014.04.050

Munro, D., Thomas, D. W., & Humphries, M. M. (2008). Extreme suppression of aboveground activity by a food-storing hibernator, the eastern chipmunk (Tamias striatus). *Https://Doi.Org/10.1139/Z08-008*, *86*(5), 364–370. https://doi.org/10.1139/Z08-008

Nakagawa, S., & Schielzeth, H. (2013). A general and simple method for obtaining R2 from generalized linear mixed-effects models. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 4(2), 133–142. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.2041-210X.2012.00261.X Neish, A. S. (2009). Microbes in Gastrointestinal Health and Disease. *Gastroenterology*, *136*(1), 65. https://doi.org/10.1053/J.GASTRO.2008.10.080

Neufeld, K. M., Kang, N., Bienenstock, J., & Foster, J. A. (2011). Reduced anxiety-like behavior and central neurochemical change in germ-free mice. *Neurogastroenterology and Motility*, *23*(3). https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-2982.2010.01620.X

Noguera, J. C., Aira, M., Pérez-Losada, M., Domínguez, J., & Velando, A. (2018). Glucocorticoids modulate gastrointestinal microbiome in a wild bird. *Royal Society Open Science*, 5(4). https://doi.org/10.1098/RSOS.171743

Org, E., Mehrabian, M., Parks, B. W., Shipkova, P., Liu, X., Drake, T. A., & Lusis, A. J. (2016). Sex differences and hormonal effects on gut microbiota composition in mice. *Gut Microbes*, 7(4), 313. https://doi.org/10.1080/19490976.2016.1203502

Orkin, J. D., Campos, F. A., Myers, M. S., Cheves Hernandez, S. E., Guadamuz, A., & Melin, A. D. (2019). Seasonality of the gut microbiota of free-ranging white-faced capuchins in a tropical dry forest. *The ISME Journal*, *13*(1), 183–196. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41396-018-0256-0

Osadchiy, V., Martin, C. R., & Mayer, E. A. (2019). The Gut–Brain Axis and the Microbiome: Mechanisms and Clinical Implications. *Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, *17*(2), 322–332. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CGH.2018.10.002

Ottman, N., Ruokolainen, L., Suomalainen, A., Sinkko, H., Karisola, P., Lehtimäki, J., Lehto, M., Hanski, I., Alenius, H., & Fyhrquist, N. (2019). Soil exposure modifies the gut microbiota and supports immune tolerance in a mouse model. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, *143*(3), 1198-1206.e12. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JACI.2018.06.024

Pace, F., & Watnick, P. I. (2021). The Interplay of Sex Steroids, the Immune Response, and the Intestinal Microbiota. *Trends in Microbiology*, *29*(9), 849–859. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TIM.2020.11.001

Palmer, C., Bik, E. M., DiGiulio, D. B., Relman, D. A., & Brown, P. O. (2007). Development of the Human Infant Intestinal Microbiota. *PLOS Biology*, *5*(7), e177. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PBIO.0050177

Paquette, C., Garant, D., Savage, J., Réale, D., & Bergeron, P. (2020). Individual and environmental determinants of Cuterebra bot fly parasitism in the eastern chipmunk (Tamias striatus). *Oecologia*, *193*(2), 359–370. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00442-020-04685-X/METRICS

Partrick, K. A., Chassaing, B., Beach, L. Q., McCann, K. E., Gewirtz, A. T., & Huhman, K. L. (2018). Acute and repeated exposure to social stress reduces gut microbiota diversity in Syrian hamsters. *Behavioural Brain Research*, *345*, 39. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BBR.2018.02.005

Patrick, S. C., Pinaud, D., & Weimerskirch, H. (2017). Boldness predicts an individual's position along an exploration–exploitation foraging trade-off. *The Journal of Animal Ecology*, *86*(5), 1257. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12724

Pearish, S., Hostert, L., & Bell, A. M. (2013). Behavioural type–environment correlations in the field: a study of three-spined stickleback. *Behavioural Ecology and Sociobiology*, 67(5), 765. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00265-013-1500-2

Petrosus, E., Silva, E. B., Lay, D., & Eicher, S. D. (2018). Effects of orally administered cortisol and norepinephrine on weanling piglet gut microbial populations and Salmonella passage. *Journal of Animal Science*, *96*(11), 4543–4551. https://doi.org/10.1093/JAS/SKY312

Petrullo, L., Ren, T., Wu, M., Boonstra, R., Palme, R., Boutin, S., McAdam, A. G., & Dantzer, B. (2022). Glucocorticoids coordinate changes in gut microbiome composition in wild North American red squirrels. *Scientific Reports 2022 12:1, 12*(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-06359-5

Pickard, J. M., Zeng, M. Y., Caruso, R., & Núñez, G. (2017). Gut microbiota: Role in pathogen colonization, immune responses, and inflammatory disease. *Immunological Reviews*, 279(1), 70–89. https://doi.org/10.1111/IMR.12567

Quast, C., Pruesse, E., Yilmaz, P., Gerken, J., Schweer, T., Yarza, P., Peplies, J., & Glöckner, F. O. (2013). The SILVA ribosomal RNA gene database project: improved data processing and web-based tools. *Nucleic Acids Research*, *41*, D590. https://doi.org/10.1093/NAR/GKS1219

Raulo, A., Bürkner, P. C., Finerty, G. E., Dale, J., Hanski, E., English, H. M., Lamberth, C., Firth, J. A., Coulson, T., & Knowles, S. C. L. (2024a). Social and environmental transmission spread different sets of gut microbes in wild mice. *Nature Ecology & Evolution 2024 8:5*, 8(5), 972–985. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-024-02381-0

Raulo, A., Bürkner, P. C., Finerty, G. E., Dale, J., Hanski, E., English, H. M., Lamberth, C., Firth, J. A., Coulson, T., & Knowles, S. C. L. (2024b). Social and environmental transmission spread different sets of gut microbes in wild mice. *Nature Ecology & Evolution 2024 8:5*, 8(5), 972–985. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-024-02381-0

Réale, D., Reader, S. M., Sol, D., Mcdougall, P. T., & Dingemanse, N. J. (2007). Integrating animal temperament within ecology and evolution. *Biol. Rev*, *82*, 291–318. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-185X.2007.00010.x

Ren, T., Boutin, S., Humphries, M. M., Dantzer, B., Gorrell, J. C., Coltman, D. W., McAdam, A. G., & Wu, M. (2017). Seasonal, spatial, and maternal effects on gut microbiome in wild red squirrels. *Microbiome*, *5*(1), 163. https://doi.org/10.1186/S40168-017-0382-3/FIGURES/5

Ren, T., Grieneisen, L. E., Alberts, S. C., Archie, E. A., & Wu, M. (2016). Development, diet and dynamism: longitudinal and cross-sectional predictors of gut microbial communities in wild baboons. *Environmental Microbiology*, *18*(5), 1312–1325. https://doi.org/10.1111/1462-2920.12852

Ridaura, V., & Belkaid, Y. (2015). Gut microbiota: the link to your second brain. *Cell*, *161*(2), 193–194. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2015.03.033

Risely, A., Schmid, D. W., Müller-Klein, N., Wilhelm, K., Clutton-Brock, T. H., Manser, M. B., & Sommer, S. (2022). Gut microbiota individuality is contingent on temporal scale and age in wild meerkats. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, *289*(1981). https://doi.org/10.1098/RSPB.2022.0609/

Rosenberg, E., Koren, O., Reshef, L., Efrony, R., & Zilber-Rosenberg, I. (2007). The role of microorganisms in coral health, disease and evolution. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, *5*(5), 355–362. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro1635

Sadoughi, B., Schneider, D., Daniel, R., Schülke, O., & Ostner, J. (2022). Aging gut microbiota of wild macaques are equally diverse, less stable, but progressively personalized. *Microbiome*, *10*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/S40168-022-01283-2

Sampson, T. R., & Mazmanian, S. K. (2015). Control of brain development, function, and behavior by the microbiome. *Cell Host & Microbe*, *17*(5), 565–576. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CHOM.2015.04.011

Santostefano, F., Allegue, H., Garant, D., Bergeron, P., & Réale, D. (2021). Indirect genetic and environmental effects on behaviours, morphology, and life-history traits in a wild Eastern chipmunk population. *Evolution*, *75*(6), 1492–1512. https://doi.org/10.1111/EVO.14232

Schielzeth, H., & Forstmeier, W. (2009). Conclusions beyond support: overconfident estimates in mixed models. *Behavioural Ecology*, 20(2), 416–420. https://doi.org/10.1093/BEHECO/ARN145

Schirmer, A., Herde, A., Eccard, J. A., & Dammhahn, M. (2019). Individuals in space: personalitydependent space use, movement and microhabitat use facilitate individual spatial niche specialization. *Oecologia 2019 189:3*, *189*(3), 647–660. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00442-019-04365-5

Schmidt, E., Mykytczuk, N., & Schulte-Hostedde, A. I. (2019). Effects of the captive and wild environment on diversity of the gut microbiome of deer mice (Peromyscus maniculatus). *The ISME Journal 2019* 13:5, 13(5), 1293–1305. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41396-019-0345-8

Shapira, M. (2016). Gut Microbiotas and Host Evolution: Scaling Up Symbiosis. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, *31*(7), 539–549. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TREE.2016.03.006

Smith, B. R., & Blumstein, D. T. (2008). Fitness consequences of personality: a meta-analysis. *Behavioural Ecology*, *19*(2), 448–455. https://doi.org/10.1093/BEHECO/ARM144

Snyder, D. P. (1982). Tamias striatus. Mammalian Species, 168, 1. https://doi.org/10.2307/3503819

Somers, S. E., Davidson, G. L., Johnson, C. N., Reichert, M. S., S Crane, J. M., Paul Ross, R., Stanton, C., Quinn, J. L., Shane Somers, C. E., & Recovery, K. (2023). Individual variation in the avian gut microbiota: The influence of host state and environmental heterogeneity. *Molecular Ecology*, 00, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1111/MEC.16919

Sonnenburg, J. L., Angenent, L. T., & Gordon, J. I. (2004). Getting a grip on things: how do communities of bacterial symbionts become established in our intestine? *Nature Immunology*, *5*(6), 569–573. https://doi.org/10.1038/NI1079

Sonoyama, K., Fujiwara, R., Takemura, N., Ogasawara, T., Watanabe, J., Ito, H., & Morita, T. (2009). Response of gut microbiota to fasting and hibernation in Syrian hamsters. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *75*(20), 6451–6456. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00692-09

Spiegel, O., Leu, S. T., Bull, C. M., & Sih, A. (2017). What's your move? Movement as a link between personality and spatial dynamics in animal populations. *Ecology Letters*, 20(1), 3–18. https://doi.org/10.1111/ELE.12708

Stamps, J. A., & Biro, P. A. (2016). Personality and individual differences in plasticity. *Current Opinion in Behavioural Sciences*, *12*, 18–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.COBEHA.2016.08.008

Stoffel, M. A., Nakagawa, S., & Schielzeth, H. (2017). rptR: repeatability estimation and variance decomposition by generalized linear mixed-effects models. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 8(11), 1639–1644. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12797

Stothart, M. R., Palme, R., & Newman, A. E. M. (2019). It's what's on the inside that counts: stress physiology and the bacterial microbiome of a wild urban mammal. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, *286*(1913). https://doi.org/10.1098/RSPB.2019.2111

Sudo, N. (2014). Microbiome, HPA axis and production of endocrine hormones in the gut. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology*, *817*, 177–194. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-0897-4_8

Suzuki, T. A. (2017). Links between Natural Variation in the Microbiome and Host Fitness in Wild Mammals. *Integrative and Comparative Biology*, *57*(4), 756–769. https://doi.org/10.1093/ICB/ICX104

Sylvia, K. E., & Demas, G. E. (2018). A gut feeling: Microbiome-brain-immune interactions modulate social and affective behaviours. *Hormones and Behaviour*, *99*, 41. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.YHBEH.2018.02.001 Sylvia, K. E., Jewell, C. P., Rendon, N. M., st. John, E. A., & Demas, G. E. (2017). Sex-specific modulation of the gut microbiome and behaviour in Siberian hamsters. *Brain, Behaviour, and Immunity*, *60*, 51–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BBI.2016.10.023

Taff, C. C., & Vitousek, M. N. (2016). Endocrine Flexibility: Optimizing Phenotypes in a Dynamic World? *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, *31*(6), 476–488. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TREE.2016.03.005

Teyssier, A., Matthysen, E., Hudin, N. S., de Neve, L., White, J., & Lens, L. (2020). Diet contributes to urban-induced alterations in gut microbiota: experimental evidence from a wild passerine. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, 287(1920). https://doi.org/10.1098/RSPB.2019.2182

Tissier, M. L., Réale, D., Garant, D., & Bergeron, P. (2020). Consumption of red maple in anticipation of beech mast-seeding drives reproduction in eastern chipmunks. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, *89*(5), 1190–1201. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.13183

Toscano, B. J., Gownaris, N. J., Heerhartz, S. M., & Monaco, C. J. (2016). Personality, foraging behavior and specialization: integrating behavioral and food web ecology at the individual level. *Oecologia*, *182*(1), 55–69. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00442-016-3648-8

Tung, J., Barreiro, L. B., Burns, M. B., Grenier, J. C., Lynch, J., Grieneisen, L. E., Altmann, J., Alberts, S. C., Blekhman, R., & Archie, E. A. (2015). Social networks predict gut microbiome composition in wild baboons. *ELife*, *4*(4). https://doi.org/10.7554/ELIFE.05224

Turnbaugh, P. J., Hamady, M., Yatsunenko, T., Cantarel, B. L., Duncan, A., Ley, R. E., Sogin, M. L., Jones, W. J., Roe, B. A., Affourtit, J. P., Egholm, M., Henrissat, B., Heath, A. C., Knight, R., & Gordon, J. I. (2009). A core gut microbiome in obese and lean twins. *Nature*, *457*(7228), 480–484. https://doi.org/10.1038/NATURE07540

Turpin, W., Espin-Garcia, O., Xu, W., Silverberg, M. S., Kevans, D., Smith, M. I., Guttman, D. S., Griffiths, A., Panaccione, R., Otley, A., Xu, L., Shestopaloff, K., Moreno-Hagelsieb, G., Paterson, A. D., & Croitoru, K. (2016). Association of host genome with intestinal microbial composition in a large healthy cohort. *Nature Genetics*, *48*(11), 1413–1417. https://doi.org/10.1038/NG.3693

Valeri, F., & Endres, K. (2021). How biological sex of the host shapes its gut microbiota. *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology*, *61*, 100912. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.YFRNE.2021.100912

Vitousek, M. N., Taff, C. C., Ardia, D. R., Stedman, J. M., Zimmer, C., Salzman, T. C., & Winkler, D. W. (2018). The lingering impact of stress: brief acute glucocorticoid exposure has sustained, dose-dependent effects on reproduction. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 285(1882). https://doi.org/10.1098/RSPB.2018.0722

Walters, W., Hyde, E. R., Berg-Lyons, D., Ackermann, G., Humphrey, G., Parada, A., Gilbert, J. A., Jansson, J. K., Caporaso, J. G., Fuhrman, J. A., Apprill, A., & Knight, R. (2016). Improved Bacterial 16S rRNA Gene (V4 and V4-5) and Fungal Internal Transcribed Spacer Marker Gene Primers for Microbial Community Surveys. *MSystems*, *1*(1). https://doi.org/10.1128/MSYSTEMS.00009-15

Webber, Q. M. R., & Willis, C. K. R. (2020). Personality affects dynamics of an experimental pathogen in little brown bats. *Royal Society Open Science*, 7(9). https://doi.org/10.1098/RSOS.200770

Westneat, D. F., Wright, J., & Dingemanse, N. J. (2014). The biology hidden inside residual withinindividual phenotypic variation. *Biological Reviews*, *90*(3), 729–743. https://doi.org/10.1111/BRV.12131

Williams, C. L., Garcia-Reyero, N., Martyniuk, C. J., Tubbs, C. W., & Bisesi, J. H. (2020). Regulation of endocrine systems by the microbiome: Perspectives from comparative animal models. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, 292. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.YGCEN.2020.113437

Wingfield, J. C. (2003). Control of behavioural strategies for capricious environments. *Animal Behaviour*, *66*(5), 807–816. https://doi.org/10.1006/ANBE.2003.2298

Wirowska, M., Iwińska, K., Borowski, Z., Brzeziński, M., Solecki, P., & Boratyński, J. S. (2024). Explorative behaviour allows the successful finding of ephemeral food resources in the wild. *Mammal Research*, *69*(1), 89–98. https://doi.org/10.1007/S13364-023-00719-W/FIGURES/2

Wu, G. D., Chen, J., Hoffmann, C., Bittinger, K., Chen, Y. Y., Keilbaugh, S. A., Bewtra, M., Knights, D., Walters, W. A., Knight, R., Sinha, R., Gilroy, E., Gupta, K., Baldassano, R., Nessel, L., Li, H., Bushman, F. D., & Lewis, J. D. (2011). Linking long-term dietary patterns with gut microbial enterotypes. *Science*, *334*(6052), 105–108. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.1208344/SUPPL_FILE/WU.SOM.PDF

Wu, H. J., & Wu, E. (2012). The role of gut microbiota in immune homeostasis and autoimmunity. *Gut Microbes*, *3*(1), 4. https://doi.org/10.4161/GMIC.19320

Xia, M., Xia, Y., Sun, Y., Wang, J., Lu, J., Wang, X., Xia, D., Xu, X., & Sun, B. (2024). Gut microbiome is associated with personality traits of free-ranging Tibetan macaques (Macaca thibetana). *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *15*, 1381372. https://doi.org/10.3389/FMICB.2024.1381372

Xu, C., Zhu, H., & Qiu, P. (2019). Aging progression of human gut microbiota. *BMC Microbiology*, *19*(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/S12866-019-1616-2/FIGURES/4

Xu, X., & Zhang, Z. (2021). Sex- and age-specific variation of gut microbiota in Brandt's voles. *PeerJ*, 9. https://doi.org/10.7717/PEERJ.11434

Yano, J. M., Yu, K., Donaldson, G. P., Shastri, G. G., Ann, P., Ma, L., Nagler, C. R., Ismagilov, R. F., Mazmanian, S. K., & Hsiao, E. Y. (2015). Indigenous bacteria from the gut microbiota regulate host serotonin biosynthesis. *Cell*, *161*(2), 264–276. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2015.02.047

Yatsunenko, T., Rey, F. E., Manary, M. J., Trehan, I., Dominguez-Bello, M. G., Contreras, M., Magris, M., Hidalgo, G., Baldassano, R. N., Anokhin, A. P., Heath, A. C., Warner, B., Reeder, J., Kuczynski, J., Caporaso, J. G., Lozupone, C. A., Lauber, C., Clemente, J. C., Knights, D., ... Gordon, J. I. (2012). Human gut microbiome viewed across age and geography. *Nature 2012 486:7402, 486*(7402), 222–227. https://doi.org/10.1038/NATURE11053

Yerger, R. W. (1953). Home Range, Territoriality, and Populations of the Chipmunk in Central New York. *Journal of Mammalogy*, *34*(4), 448. https://doi.org/10.2307/1375860

Zhang, C., Derrien, M., Levenez, F., Brazeilles, R., Ballal, S. A., Kim, J., Degivry, M. C., Quéré, G., Garault, P., van Hylckama Vlieg, J. E. T., Garrett, W. S., Doré, J., & Veiga, P. (2016). Ecological robustness of the gut microbiota in response to ingestion of transient food-borne microbes. *The ISME Journal*, *10*(9), 2235–2245. https://doi.org/10.1038/ISMEJ.2016.13

Zhou, D., Zhang, H., Bai, Z., Zhang, A., Bai, F., Luo, X., Hou, Y., Ding, X., Sun, B., Sun, X., Ma, N., Wang, C., Dai, X., & Lu, Z. (2016). Exposure to soil, house dust and decaying plants increases gut microbial diversity and decreases serum immunoglobulin E levels in BALB/c mice. *Environmental Microbiology*, *18*(5), 1326–1337. https://doi.org/10.1111/1462-2920.12895

Zhou, J., Wang, M., & Yi, X. (2022). Alteration of Gut Microbiota of a Food-Storing Hibernator, Siberian Chipmunk Tamias sibiricus. *Microbial Ecology*, *84*(2), 603–612. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00248-021-01877-7/FIGURES/7

Zilber-Rosenberg, I., & Rosenberg, E. (2008). Role of microorganisms in the evolution of animals and plants: the hologenome theory of evolution. *FEMS Microbiology Reviews*, 32(5), 723–735. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1574-6976.2008.00123.X